The Power of Representation

Rethinking Sexuality and Challenging Heteronormativity in RIZZOLI & ISLES Fan Videos



Naam student: Liselot Jacobs

Studentnummer: 3842622

Studie: Media en Cultuur

Begeleidend docent: Hanna Surma

Studiejaar 2015-2016 / Blok 2

Inleverdatum: 25-01-2016

Annotatiestijl: Chicago Manual of Style

Abstract

Fan vidding is a fan practice in which fans poach existing materials from popular culture, which they then transform into a new original text. Fan videos in which gender and sexuality play an important part can then be seen and used as a bridge between fan studies and queer theory. These fan videos can be queer, when commenting on images of heteronormativity and/or slash when centering on a relationship between two same sex characters. Central to this research is the question: how do fans of the television series Rizzoli & Isles represent the main character's relationship in their fan videos? Three fan videos, representing the three main fan vidding genres, have been selected and analyzed by looking at the stylistic elements of sound and editing. This research is then structured by the following three sub-questions: how are editing and sound used for the representation of the main character's relationship in a *San Francisco School* fan video?; how are editing and sound used for the representation of the main character's relationship in a *MediaWest* fan video?; how are editing and sound used for the representation of the main character's relationship in a *Mary van Deusen* fan video?

Based on the findings of the analyses, it is concluded that all three fan videos, representing the different genres, have offered different ways of using *sound* and *editing* when transforming material, poached from popular culture, into a new context. The fans have then represented the relationship between Jane and Maura through their language, the *sound* and *editing*, bringing together *fan studies* and *queer theory* in the discussion of sexuality and *heteronormativity*. The three fan videos represented the relationship between Jane and Maura as a flirtatious relationship, a friendship and work relationship, and an intimate romantic relationship.

KEYWORDS: fan vidding, poaching, queerness, heteronormativity, slash, queer video remix, representation, queer theory, fan studies.

Table of Contents

Introduction	4-7.
1. Theoretical framework	7.
1.1 Fan vidding and Poaching	7-8
1.2 Representation: Meaning is Interpretation	8-9
1.3 Queerness and Heteronormativity	9-10
1.4 Queer and Slash Vidding	10-11
2. Research methodology	11.
2.1 Approach	11-13.
2.2 Research Material	13-14.
3. San Francisco School	14.
3.1 "I Kissed a Girl"	15-17.
3.2 "What Doesn't Kill You"	17-18.
3.3 "Sailor Man"	19-20.
4. MediaWest	20.
4.1 Bloopers	21-22.
4.2 TV Guide Magazine	23-24.
4.3 Friends	24-25.
5. Mary van Deusen	26.
5.1 "Seventeen Ain't So Sweet"	26-28.
5.2 "See One, Do One, Teach One"	28-30.
5.3 "He Ain't Heavy, He's My Brother"	30-31.
6. Conclusion and Recommendation	31-32.
7. Literature	33-35.
8. Appendix	36-105

Introduction

In a recent online video, the characters Jane Rizzoli and Maura Isles look at each other from eyes to chest, and chest to eyes. This particular movement was edited to occur over and over again, and accompanied by Elvis Presley's *A little less conversation*. This particular combination of the music and the visual material in the video *Rizzoli & Isles - The Eye Sex* changes the context of the original television series RIZZOLI & ISLES.¹ The friendly colleagues working homicide cases now seem to be in some sort of sexual relationship.²

This process, in which the representation of the relationship between these characters has been changed, can be considered as *poaching*. *Poaching*, according to Henry Jenkins, is about borrowing existing materials which you then reedit into a new original text.³ The creation of a video by a fan, such as the one described, can be called *fan vidding*. *Fan vidding*, as described by Francesca Coppa, is a fan practice in which fans express their opinion about something in a television series, either positive or negative, by creating a video.⁴ The creation of a fan video then involves the *poaching* of existing materials.

This phenomenon of *vidding* and *poaching* is relevant because it means fans are able to challenge *heteronormativity*, which Samuel Chambers explains as the presence of a heterosexual norm.⁵ Challenging *heteronormativity* is a way of rethinking the dualistic way the world thinks about gender and sexuality, also called *queerness*.⁶ *Queerness* is an important part of *queer theory*, a critical perspective aimed at researching the shifting meanings of identification terms, such as homosexual and heterosexual.⁷

Fan videos in which gender and sexuality play an important part can then be seen and used as a bridge between *fan studies* and *queer theory*. The *fan vidding* practice can be traced back to the year 1975 in which a fan created a slide show based on the television series STAR TREK. However, the practice has gained a lot of ground, especially in the last decade. With the foundation of *YouTube* in 2005 and programs such as *Windows Movie Maker*, the creation, distribution and sharing

¹ RIZZOLI & ISLES. Download. United States: Turner Network Television, 2010.

² Sara Kelley, (2012). *Rizzoli & Isles – The Eye Sex* [Online video]. Geraadpleegd 1 december 2015, op https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=ZzOyD0s4 fc

³ Henry Jenkins, Textual Poachers: Television Fans & Participatory Culture (New York: Routledge, 1992), 223.

⁴ Francesca Coppa, "Women, Star Trek and the Early Development of Fannish Vidding," [2008] *Transformative Works and Cultures* – 21-11-2015
http://journal.transformativeworks.org/index.php/twc/article/view/44/64

⁵ Samuel A. Chambers, *The Queer Politics of Television* (Londen: I.B. Tauris, 2009), 35.

⁶ Amy Lind, red., Development, Sexual Rights and Global Governance (New York: Routledge, 2010), 6-7.

⁷ Renée C. Hoogland, "Seksualiteit als strijdtoneel: de tomboy en queer studies," in *Gender in media, kunst en cultuur*, red. Rosemarie Buikema en Iris van der Tuin (Bussum: Uitgeverij Coutinho, 2007): 109-122, 111.

⁸ Coppa.

of fan videos has become increasingly easier and more popular. The many new fan videos then also induced a lot of new representations and discussions on gender and sexuality.

What I am trying to point out is the increasing importance of the *fan vidding* practice in both *fan studies* as well as *queer theory*. The *fan vidding* practice offers these fields of study many new contexts and ways of rethinking gender and sexuality. While there are plenty of studies using and analyzing fan videos for this reason, such as the article "Queer video remix and LGBTQ online communities" the *fan vidding* practice has a lot more potential.

With this research I want to first of all emphasize the relationship between the fields of *fan studies* and *queer theory*, highlighting *fan vidding* as one of the most prolific fan practices when dealing with gender and sexuality. I will connect these fields of studies by reviewing the existing knowledge, including important academic texts such as *Textual Poachers*¹¹ by Henry Jenkins and "Seksualiteit als strijdtoneel: de tomboy en queer studies"¹² by Renée Hoogland.

Besides that, I want to expose the *Rizzles fandom*, as an important and promising context, in which the fans challenge the *heteronormativity* of the television show by representing the relationship between the main characters in various ways. The *Rizzles fandom* is a subculture, consisting out of fans that are interested in the television series Rizzoli & Isles.

Finally I want to contribute to both academic fields by analyzing three fan videos created by fans from the *Rizzles fandom*. I want to do so by focusing on the most important part of a fan video, its style. While texts such as "Queer video remix and LGBTQ online communities" offer queer readings of a variety of fan videos, ¹³ I will analyze the fan videos based on the television series RIZZOLI & ISLES in more detail.

I have chosen to analyze fan videos about the television series RIZZOLI & ISLES, because the series has been accused of teasing queer fans by playing into their desire for homosexual characters. ¹⁴ The fans accusing the show have described this by using the term *queerbaiting*. The term came to life in discussions on popular media sites such as *Tumblr* and *Livejournal* and got defined as: "[...] the practice of television shows and movies putting in a little gay subtext, stirring up interest with queer

⁹ Henry Jenkins, "How to Watch a Fan-Vid," [2006] *Confessions of an Aca-Fan* – 16-11-2015 http://henryjenkins.org/2006/09/how_to_watch_a_fanvid.html

¹⁰ Elise Kreisinger, "Queer video remix and LGBTQ online communities," [2012] *Transformative Works and Cultures* – 21-12-2015 http://journal.transformativeworks.org/index.php/twc/article/view/395/264

¹¹ Jenkins, Textual Poachers.

¹² Hoogland.

¹³ Kreisinger.

^{14 &}quot;Much ado about queerbaiting." [2014] *Beyond Tropes* – 01-12-2015 https://beyondtropes.wordpress.com/2014/06/27/much-ado-about-queerbaiting/

¹⁵ Rose, "How Do We Solve A Problem Like "Queerbaiting"?: On TV's Not-So-Subtle Gay Subtext," [2013] Autostraddle – 25-11-2015

http://www.autostraddle.com/how-do-we-solve-a-problem-like-queerbaiting-on-tvs-not-so-subtle-gay-subtext

fans, and then pulling a NO HOMO, MAN on the viewers." According to the fans, the television series Rizzoli & Isles makes it seem that there could be a sexual or romantic relationship between the main characters Jane and Maura. However, the possibility gets taken away straight after, by making fun of the situation or emphasizing the characters' heterosexuality.

The fact that RIZZOLI & ISLES has been accused of being the most striking *queerbaiting* television series, with heterosexuality as the norm, offers me the chance to research a wide variety of fan videos aimed at challenging this heterosexual norm.

To cover the *Rizzles* fan videos in the broadest sense, I have decided to base my structure on the three main *fan vidding* genres described by Coppa in the article "Remixing Television: Francesca Coppa on the vidding underground." The three genres, *San Francisco School*, *MediaWest* and *Mary van Deusen*, give me the opportunity to cover a variety of styles and representations and with that ways of rethinking sexuality.

While there are many different stylistic elements that could be analyzed, I will focus only on the sound and editing. I have selected these elements because it is the combination of the consciously chosen sound and visual material, placed in a particular relation to each other what gives a fan video meaning. For this analysis, I will refer to Butler's method, making use of the *descriptive* and *analytic stylistics*. ¹⁹

The final concept that has to be addressed is the concept of representation. As an important part of the research question, representation refers to a process in which meaning is constructed through the use of language and in consideration of culture. Stuart Hall and Richard Dyer discuss this concept in detail in the books *Representation: Cultural Representation and Signifying Practices*²⁰ and *The Matter of Images: Essays on Representations.*²¹ The concept of representation is relevant for this research, because it addresses the way the fans use a specific language in their videos to give meaning to the represented relationship.

Central to this research will then be the following question: how do fans of the television series RIZZOLI & ISLES represent the main character's relationship in their fan videos? To answer this question, I have structured this research based on the three main *fan vidding* genres, resulting in the

¹⁶ Rebekah Bailey, "Queerbaiting on TV," [2013] *LASH* – 25-11-2015 http://lash-mag.weebly.com/pop-culture/queerbaiting-on-tv

¹⁷ Jesse Walker, "Remixing Television: Francesca Coppa on the vidding underground," [2008] *Reason Magazine* – 16-11-2015 https://reason.com/archives/2008/07/18/remixing-television

¹⁸ Jeremy Butler, Television Style (Londen: Routledge, 2010), 1-3.

¹⁹ Idem, 4-15.

²⁰ Stuart Hall, red., *Representation: Cultural Representation and Signifying Practices* (London: Sage Publications, 1997).

²¹ Richard Dyer, The Matter of Images: Essays on Representations (Londen: Routledge, 2002).

following questions: how are editing and sound used for the representation of the main character's relationship in a *San Francisco School* fan video?; how are editing and sound used for the representation of the main character's relationship in a *MediaWest* fan video?; how are editing and sound used for the representation of the main character's relationship in a *Mary van Deusen* fan video?

As mentioned, the structure of this research is based on the three *fan vidding* genres and thus the three sub-questions. In the first chapter, the theoretical framework, all important concepts will be defined, discussed and related to each other. In the research methodology part I will discuss the three main *fan vidding* genres, the selected fan videos, the stylistic elements sound and editing and the nine sub-aspects I will focus on. Besides that, I will discuss the *stylistic analysis* and how I am going to apply it to the fan videos. Following this, I will analyze the three fan videos in chapter three, four and five. In the conclusion, I will discuss my findings, answering my research question.

1. Theoretical framework

As mentioned in the introduction of this research, there is strong relationship between the fields of fan studies and queer theory. It is especially the topic of gender and sexuality that both fields have in common, with the representation of these terms as a frequent topic. I will first of all discuss the fan vidding practice and the concept of poaching. Following this, I will talk about the concept of representation. After that I will connect the concepts of queerness and heteronormativity as part of queer theory. Finally, I will discuss queer and slash vidding as ways for fans to comment on heteronormativity.

1.1 Fan vidding and Poaching

In the article "Women, Star Trek, and the early development of fannish vidding", Francesca Coppa talks about the practices and aesthetics of *fan vidding*. Coppa states that the roots of *fan vidding* can be found in 1975, when a fan created a slide show based on the television series STAR TREK. From creating a slide show of film stills, using a VCR and now distributing computer-generated videos on *YouTube*, technologically speaking the *fan vidding* practice has come a long way. However, two things that have not or hardly changed are the female dominance in the practice and the popularity of the *slash/femslash* genre.²² According to Coppa *fan vidding* can be defined as:

²² Coppa.

"Vidding is a form of collaborative thinking. While vidders make an infinite variety of arguments about the television shows and films they love – theorizing about characters, fleshing out relationships, emphasizing homoerotics, picking apart nuances of plot and theme – these arguments frequently articulate alternative perspectives, particularly in terms of gender and sexuality."²³

Continuing on the *fan vidding* practice, media scholar Henry Jenkins talks about fans in a comprehensive manner in his book *Textual Poachers: Television Fans & Participatory Culture.*²⁴ Seen as one of the most important scholars in the field of *fan studies*, Jenkins writes about fans as *textual poachers*, saying that: "Fans are poachers who get to keep what they take and use their plundered goods as the foundations for the construction of an alternative cultural community." ²⁵ In other words, *poaching* is about borrowing existing materials, which you then adapt, recombine or transform into a new original text. Fans are thus seen as active participants, who express their fascination or frustration about a media text, by appropriating popular songs and images and rereading them. Jenkins states that fans can be seen as *nomads*, constantly creating new meanings based on new media texts, never standing still. ²⁶

Applying this to the fan practice that is central in this research, fan videos are made by using both images and sounds appropriated from popular culture, transformed in to a new creation, that expresses the fans thoughts and feelings.²⁷

1.2 Representation: Meaning is Interpretation

As mentioned, the concept of representation is an important part of the research question. Hall and Dyer discuss the way representation takes shape, talking about language and culture.

In a relevant research from 1997, Hall stated that we give meaning to everything we see by using language. Language in this context is seen as a representational system, taking many forms including words, sound and images. These forms of language, also called signs, are ways to represent the ideas and concepts we have in mind. By using a particular set of signs, we give meaning to the idea or concept we represent. While the sender of the message (encoder) represents

²³ Coppa.

²⁴ Jenkins, Textual Poachers.

²⁵ Idem, 223.

²⁶ Idem, 9-49, 223-249.

²⁷ Idem, 225.

a concept with a specific intended meaning, the receiver (decoder) could interpret this representation in an entirely different way. The intended meaning could be lost in the transmission of the message, because the receiver has a different interpretation.²⁸

A few years later, Dyer concurred with Hall's vision and added his insights about especially the relevance of ones cultural background. Since one meaning can have many different interpretations, the process of producing and interpreting meaning is a complex one. According to both Hall and Dyer, it is the cultural background that influences how we produce and interpret meaning. When we give meaning to a concept, we make use of the codes and conventions known to us. What is known to us then depends on the culture we grew up in. While we can talk about a nations culture overall, we can also talk about ones specific social grouping or religion. ²⁹³⁰

"We are all restricted by both the viewing and the reading codes to which we have access (by virtue of where we are situated in the world and the social order) and by what representations there are for us to view and read."³¹

Where the sender makes use of the codes and conventions known to him, the receiver does the same. While there is never a guarantee that both sender and receiver interpret the representation in the same way, chances increase when both have the same or a similar cultural background. Since this would mean that the same codes and conventions are known and used.³²³³

The concept of representation as explained here is relevant to this research, because I focus on the way fans of the television series Rizzoli & Isles represent the relationship between the characters Jane Rizzoli and Maura Isles. Without evaluating or criticizing the representation of the relationship, I want to find out how the relationship is represented, in the context of the *Rizzles fandom*.

1.3 Queerness and Heteronormativity

Queer theory is a critical perspective that emerged in the 1990s. In the chapter "Seksualiteit als strijdtoneel: de tomboy en queer studies" from the book *Gender in media, kunst en cultuur*, Renée Hoogland offers me a clear description of what queer theory is all about: "In plaats van

²⁸ Hall, 16-24.

²⁹ Dyer, 1-4.

³⁰ ChallengingMedia, (2006). *Representation & the Media: Featuring Stuart Hall* [Online video]. Geraadpleegd 5 januari 2016, op https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=aTzMsPqssOY

³¹ Dyer, 2.

³² Idem, 1-4.

³³ Hall, 16-24.

'homoseksueel' en 'lesbisch', 'heteroseksueel' of 'bi' als gegeven categorieën of zelfs identiteiten te aanvaarden, onderzoeken queer theorists de ontstaanswijze en de verschuivende betekenissen van deze persoonlijke en collectieve identificatietermen."³⁴ Queer theorists analyze the many contexts in which these terms function.

Part of queer theory is the theorization of the concept *queerness*. In the introduction of the book *Development, Sexual Rights and Global Governance*, Amy Lind discusses a number of views on *queerness*. It is Suparna Bhaskaran's definition of *queerness* that Lind uses as guideline: "[...] queerness can "flatten our differences," yet also serve as a coalition-builing mechanism to challenge various forms of normativity." *Queerness* in this sense is then about rethinking the dualistic way the world thinks about gender and sexuality. Discussing the concept of *heteronormativity* is one important way to do so. ³⁶

According to Samuel Chambers: "Heteronormativity emphasizes the extent to which everyone, straight or queer, will be judged, measured, probed, and evaluated from the perspective of the heterosexual norm." In other words, heterosexuality is seen as the norm, meaning it is assumed that everyone is straight and sexuality is not open for discussion. 38

Queer theory and the related concepts of queerness and heteronormativity are relevant for this research, because it is the rethinking of sexuality that is of importance in the representation of the relationship between Jane and Maura in the fan videos.

1.4 Queer and Slash Vidding

Both the *queer video remix* and the *slash* fan video are about the topics of gender and sexuality. In her article, "Queer video remix and LGBTQ online communities", Elisa Kreisinger talks about the *queer* video remix, which she defines as: "[...] a reediting of recognizable popular culture texts, without the permission of the copyright holder, to comment on, critique, or deconstruct images of heteronormativity or to expand on an existing, implied, or desired homoerotic subtext." This definition is very much related to the definition that Jenkins gives of *slash*: "[...] slash is a form of fan-generated romance which centers on the relationship between two same sex (most often male) characters appropriated from the realm of popular fiction." A *queer* video remix is then almost similar to a *slash* fan video, in the sense that both refer to the reediting of popular culture footage,

³⁴ Hoogland, 109-122, 111.

³⁵ Lind, 6.

³⁶ Idem, 6-7.

³⁷ Chambers, 35.

³⁸ Idem, 31-62.

³⁹ Kreisinger.

⁴⁰ Henry Jenkins, "How to Watch a Fan-Vid."

expanding on a homoerotic subtext. The only difference is that the *queer* video remix is about the rewriting of sexuality in general, whereas *slash* is solely focused on the relationship between two same sex characters. A *queer* video remix could then also focus on one character or a group of characters, without focusing on a romance or relationship.

Referring back to Lind and Chambers, *queerness* is about challenging forms of *normativity*, such as *heteronormativity*. Creating a *queer* video remix or *slash* fan video is then one way of challenging the heterosexual norm. In the following chapters I will only refer to the videos as fan videos, since the video remix and the fan video are simply two ways of explaining the same idea. I will however keep *queer* and *slash* separated, because of the distinction I pointed out.

2. Research methodology

As introduced, the central research question to this research is: how do fans of the television series RIZZOLI & ISLES represent the main character's relationship in their fan videos? To answer this question I will take the following approach.

2.1 Approach

To research the style of the three selected fan videos I will make use of the stylistic analysis that Jeremy Butler describes in his book *Television Style*. In his book, Butler explains the importance of style by quoting David Bordwell:

"[...] all content comes to us in and through the patterned use of the medium's techniques. Style is the tangible texture of a film, the perceptual surface we encounter as we watch and listen, and that surface is our point of departure in moving to plot, theme, feeling – everything else that matters to us."⁴¹

As mentioned it is the combination of the consciously chosen *sound* and visual material, placed in a particular relation to each other what gives it meaning. The stylistic elements of *sound* and *editing* and the way they function are therefore important for this research about representation. ⁴² *Sound* and *editing* may however include a variety of aspects. While Butler does discuss some of these aspects in his book, he doesn't describe them in a detailed manner. It is for this reason that I turn to

⁴¹ Butler, 3.

⁴² Idem, 1-3.

the book *Film Art: An Introduction* by David Bordwell and Kristen Thompson.⁴³ Like Butler, I will mainly refer to third part of their book, *Film Style*. In this part Bordwell and Thompson talk about the *mise-en-scène*, *cinematography*, *editing* and *sound* in cinema.⁴⁴ For this research nine aspects have been selected, each of them a relevant part of the stylistic language created by the fan.

With regard to the editing I will analyze the aspects: *shot duration*, ⁴⁵ *speed of motion*, ⁴⁶ *camera distance*, ⁴⁷ *camera movement*. ⁴⁸ Besides these, I will also be looking at the *editing graphics* ⁴⁹ and the *source* of the visual material. ⁵⁰ While the fans make use of already existing visual material, it is first of all important why they have selected specifically these scenes and where the shots come from. Besides the objects and people that can be seen in the scenes, the *camera distance* and *movement* are important when for instance trying to focus on ones expression, body or motion. Added to that, scenes from the television series have a different function and effect than those from bloopers or interviews. When *editing* the shots, fans can change the *speed of motion* and the *shot duration* when for instance following a beat. The final *editing* aspect of importance is the *editing graphics*, since the fans can choose to make clear cuts between shots or use other graphics, such as a *dissolve* or *fade out*.

The second important stylistic element is the *sound*, which consists out of *speech*, *special sounds* and *music*. Where *speech* refers to the spoken text in the video, the *special sounds* refer to possible noises (other than *speech*) and the *music* refers to the use of a song or a part of a song.⁵¹ I have chosen to analyze all three aspects of *sound*, because they are all three present and play an important part in the selected fan videos.

In order to research the function of the nine *sound* and *editing* aspects I will make use of the *descriptive* and *analytic stylistics* given by Butler. These stylistics are two out of the four ways television style can be researched, the *evaluative* and *historical stylistics* being the remaining.⁵² The *evaluative* and *historical stylistics* will not be applied, since I am not trying to evaluate the style, nor place this research in a historical context.

Butler describes the *descriptive stylistics* by saying it is an objective way of describing style, collecting information and placing it in tables and diagrams, using still frames to represent the

⁴³ David Bordwell en Kristin Thompson, Film Art: An Introduction (New York: McGraw-Hill, 2010).

⁴⁴ Idem, 117-326.

⁴⁵ Butler, Television Style, 30-37.

⁴⁶ Bordwell en Thompson, 171-173.

⁴⁷ Idem, 195-196.

⁴⁸ Idem, 198-203.

⁴⁹ Idem, 223-225.

⁵⁰ Idem, 80-82, 259.

⁵¹ Idem, 274-298.

⁵² Butler, 3.

moving images.53

Following Butlers *descriptive stylistics*, each fan video will be researched by first of all creating an elaborate shot-to-shot analysis. In this shot-to-shot analysis eight of the *editing* and *sound* aspects will be processed, with the exception of *music*. The *music*, consisting out of the lyrics of the song, will be added to the appendix and referred to when needed. Based on this shot-to-shot analysis several tables will be made, focusing on a number of specific, key aspects.

While the *descriptive stylistics* offers me an objective overview of what the style in the fan videos looks like, it is most important to research what the function is of this specific style. In case of this research, it is about answering the question: what is the function of the style in the representation of the relationship between the characters Jane Rizzoli and Maura Isles?

I therefore follow the *descriptive stylistics*, with the *analytic stylistics*. The *analytic stylistics* is about researching the function and purpose of television style in any particular media text, mainly focusing on the patterns and shot-to-shot relations.⁵⁴

In this research the *analytic stylistics* will take shape in the selection and discussion of several important observations. In the analysis of each fan video, the three most important observations will be discussed. The relevance of these selected observations is based on their ability to answer the research question. The discussion and analysis of these observations will then be based on the objective information gathered in the *descriptive stylistics* and any other information gained along the way.

2.2 Research Material

My goal was to find three fan videos about the television series that could offer me the opportunity to analyze the *fan vidding* practice and the *Rizzles fandom* in a broad sense. For this reason I have chosen to select one fan video from each of the three *vidding genres* that Francesca Coppa discusses in the text "Remixing Television: Francesca Coppa on the vidding underground." ⁵⁵

According to Coppa there are three *fan vidding* genres, also called the *schools of vidding*, in which most fan videos can be placed. The *MediaWest* genre is named after the fan convention that takes place annually in Lansing, Michigan. Coppa describes this genre as follows: "So the vids ... had to be spectacular, splashy, funny, because they had to be understood by people who didn't necessarily bring a lot of context to it." Where the *MediaWest* genre is about watching a video in an easy and fun way, the *Mary van Deusen* genre is about the opposite. *Mary van Deusen* videos are

⁵³ Butler, 4.

⁵⁴ Idem, 11.

⁵⁵ Walker.

⁵⁶ Ibidem.

about detail and passion, since they are made for the fans who know the television series, that the video is about, very well. Coppa says: "We call them 'living room vids,' because they are designed to be watched by fans of a show multiple times in a relatively quiet environments where you can study all the visual choices." The last and also the newest genre is the *San Francisco School*. This genre is just like the *Mary van Deusen* genre about creating a story, but with a specific interest in the effects of motion and color that Coppa mentions as the *art school sensibility*. ⁵⁸

I have chosen to search for these videos on the online platform *YouTube*, because the platform offers me the opportunity to selectively search for fan videos about RIZZOLI & ISLES, while at the same time having a large database. By using the search terms, *fan video Rizzoli & Isles* and *Rizzoli & Isles: Jane and Maura*, a large amount of relevant videos emerged. Based on the mentioned descriptions of the *fan vidding* genres that Coppa offered, I selected the fan videos that met these descriptions the most.

For the *San Francisco School* genre I have selected the fan video *Rizzoli & Isles – The Eye Sex*, ⁵⁹ which will be analyzed in chapter 3. The fan video representing the MediaWest genre is *Rizzoli & Isles – Friends [Humor]*, ⁶⁰ and will be analyzed in chapter 4. Thirdly, the selected fan video for the *Mary van Deusen* genre, *Rizzoli & Isles – Arms* ⁶¹ will be analyzed in chapter 5. Chapter 6 is then aimed at the comparison of these three fan videos and their genres.

3. San Francisco School

How are editing and sound used for the representation of the main character's relationship in a San Francisco School fan video?

The Eye Sex is the title of the fan video described shortly at the beginning of this research. The central theme of this video, referred to by its title, is the eye movement that occurs in a great variety of shots. The importance of the eyes is first and foremost supported by the chosen visual material, derived from the original television series only.

I have researched the fan video Rizzoli & Isles – The Eye Sex⁶² following Butlers descriptive

⁵⁷ Walker.

⁵⁸ Ibidem.

⁵⁹ Sara Kelley, (2012). *Rizzoli & Isles – The Eye Sex* [Online video]. Geraadpleegd 1 december 2015, op https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=ZzOyD0s4_fc

⁶⁰ Lois Thirteen, (2013). *Rizzoli & Isles – Friends [Humor]* [Online video]. Geraadpleegd 1 december 2015, op https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=p069aYGLrcU

⁶¹ Cuttingtheonion, (2011). *Rizzoli & Isles – Arms* [Online video]. Geraadpleegd 1 december 2015, op https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Ck028H-YKkc

⁶² Sara Kelley, (2012). *Rizzoli & Isles – The Eye Sex* [Online video]. Geraadpleegd 1 december 2015, op https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=ZzOyD0s4_fc

stylistics. The results of this research can be found in the appendix, in figures 1.1, 2.1 and 3 till 6.

Following the *descriptive stylistics*, I will now make use of the created objective overview to research how the style functions in the representation of the relationship between Jane and Maura in this particular fan video. The *analytic stylistics* will take shape in the discussion of the three most relevant observations.

3.1 "I Kissed a Girl"

In the sixth episode of the first season of the television series RIZZOLI & ISLES, called *I Kissed a Girl*, Jane and Maura investigate the murder of a woman. The murder took place just outside a lesbian bar, requiring Detective Jane Rizzoli and Medical Examiner Dr. Maura Isles to go undercover as a lesbian and a waitress. In the scene at the bar, Maura approaches Jane's table to go collect the glass of Jane's date, to check for fingerprints. When Maura stands next to Jane, leaning forward, Jane looks at Maura's breasts. Jane's reaction, that resembles surprise, is based on the fact that Maura is normally very elegant, never exposing her breasts in this manner. This scene is in this context work related.⁶³

In the fan video *The Eye Sex* eight seconds of this scene in the bar have been *poached* and taken out of the context of the original series. The eight second long shot does not refer to the actual professions of both women, nor the mission they are on. The relationship between the two characters as friends and coworkers is then no longer relevant. Instead, the overall style of the video has created a new context, in which the relationship between Jane and Maura can be interpreted as a sexual one.⁶⁴

This process, in which the representation of the relationship has been given a new meaning, is the result of the stylistic choices made in the fan video, which I will analyze now.

In the shot I am analyzing here, shot 17,65 Maura looks at Jane while she approaches the table. Following this she looks at Jane's date and back at Jane when she notices that Jane is staring at her breasts. In the mean time, Jane is looking at her date until Maura stands next to her. At this point Jane looks at Maura's breasts until she realizes Maura is looking back at her.

^{63 &}quot;I Kissed a Girl." Rizzoli & Isles. Turner Broadcasting System. Turner Network Television, 16 augustus 2011.

⁶⁴ Sara Kelley, (2012). *Rizzoli & Isles – The Eye Sex* [Online video]. Geraadpleegd 1 december 2015, op https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=ZzOyD0s4 fc

⁶⁵ Appendix Figure 1.1 – Fan video: The Eye Sex. Shot-to-shot analysis, 17.



The movement of especially Jane's eyes is highlighted. The shot, being a *medium-close up* is centered on both characters, with Maura's breasts and Jane's eyes in the exact middle, showing the characters from the chest up. In the eight second long shot, the longest in the entire video, there is no *speech* or *special sound* to be heard.⁶⁶ However, the video is accompanied by Elvis Presley's song *A little less conversation*. The lyrics that can be heard in this shot are the following: "A little less conversation a little more action please, all this aggravation ain't satisfactioning me."⁶⁷

While the characters do not verbally talk with each other, there seems to be some sort of communication through their body language. Jane glancing at Maura's breasts could be an act of

⁶⁶ Appendix Figure 1.1 – Fan video: The Eye Sex. Shot-to-shot analysis, 17.

⁶⁷ Appendix Figure 2.1 – Fan video: The Eye Sex. Song text: A little less conversation, by Elvis Presley.

flirting or showing interest. While the lyrics do not specifically refer to a sexual act, they do literally address the lack of talking and the need for action, in the sense of needing satisfaction. The combination of this specific shot and these lyrics, then results into a relationship between the characters that can be interpreted as intimate, flirtatious or sexual.

While this specific shot in relation to the music, already resulted into a different representation of the relationship, the remaining shots in the fan video underscore this even more. As mentioned, the focus on the character's eye movement is a recurring theme. Because the shot I analyze here is surrounded by shots with a similar eye movement, the representation of the relationship as flirtatious has already been taking shape in the previous shots and will continue to do so in the ones to come.

3.2 "What Doesn't Kill You"

While most of the shots in the fan video highlight the characters from the chest up, with a strong emphasis on the faces and breasts, there are several focused on the entire body. In shots 22 and 23 we can see that Maura's eye movement is aimed at Jane's entire body, and not only her breasts. ⁶⁸

In the first episode of the third season, *What Doesn't Kill You*, Jane and Maura are in a fight. In a conversation with her mother, Jane talks about how she and Maura first met. In a flashback we get to see Jane, undercover as a prostitute. Jane explains how she was trying to buy a cup of coffee and a bagel at the police station, but was declined by the counterman. Maura who was observing the situation, felt bad for who she thought was a prostitute and offered Jane some money.⁶⁹

Out of the described scene, two shots have been *poached* and placed into a new context in *The Eye Sex*. The first shot is that of Jane's body being shown from bottom to top. In the following shot we see Maura looking at Jane's body following the camera movement of the last shot. In the original context Jane and Maura meet for the first time, not knowing each others professions. Their relationship up to that point is that of strangers. However, similar to the scene in paragraph 3.1, the overall style of the video has created a new context.

In the first of the two shots, Jane's body is shown from bottom to top by a *tracking camera movement* going upwards. The *medium shot* of four seconds gives the viewer the opportunity to take their time and watch Jane's body. This shot clearly stands out, having a longer *duration* and different *camera distance* than the average shot in the video. In the following shot, there is a strong focus on Maura's face and eyes. Maura's eye movement can be seen clearly in the *medium-close up*.

⁶⁸ Appendix Figure 1.1 – Fan video: The Eye Sex. Shot-to-shot analysis, 22-23.

^{69 &}quot;What Doesn't Kill You." Rizzoli & Isles. Turner Broadcasting System. Turner Network Television, 5 juni 2012.

⁷⁰ Sara Kelley, (2012). *Rizzoli & Isles – The Eye Sex* [Online video]. Geraadpleegd 1 december 2015, op https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=ZzOyD0s4_fc

The way Maura looks at Jane could be considered as an act of observing or admiring. Which of these acts is more likely then depends on the relation of the camera related aspects to the *sound* and the other shots.⁷¹





The lyrics of Elvis Presley's song *A little less conversation* accompanying these two shots are: "Satisfy me."⁷² Without any *speech* or *special sounds*, more emphasis is placed upon the only available *sound*, the *music*. While the sentence "satisfy me" may have different meanings, in relation to Jane's body and Maura's gaze, the act of admiring would be more likely than simply observing.

⁷¹ Appendix Figure 1.1 – Fan video: The Eye Sex. Shot-to-shot analysis, 22-23.

⁷² Appendix Figure 2.1 – Fan video: The Eye Sex. Song text: A little less conversation, by Elvis Presley.

3.3 "Sailor Man"

While Jane and Maura do touch each other in some of the shots, there is only one shot that shows the characters getting more intimate, number 61. This shot is *poached* from the episode *Sailor Man*.

In the third episode of the second season Maura gets introduced to Giovanni, Angela's mechanic. Initially Maura was interested in Giovanni, but after several dates she realized she was only physically attracted to him. However, Giovanni was under the impression that he and Maura were soul mates. So when Jane and Maura went to pick up Angela's car, Maura wanted to let Giovanni down easy. For this reason, Maura and Jane pretended to be a couple.⁷³

The shot used in the fan video, *poached* from this scene, takes place around the end of the scene, when Jane and Maura have subtly convinced Giovanni that they are a lesbian couple. By using this shot of the characters holding each other, placed under the song *A little less conversation* and in a specific relation to the other shots, the original context has been replaced by a complete new one. Where Jane and Maura pretended to be a couple in the original context, they seem like an actual couple in the new context.⁷⁴

In the *medium-close up* shot, with a *duration* of two seconds, the faces and eyes of the characters are placed centrally. The shot is just long enough for us to see Maura looking at Jane, while Jane winks at Giovanni. The way the characters hold each other closely can be interpreted as a sign of intimacy, since this is not a conventional way of interacting with a coworker or friend.⁷⁵

Similar to the shot from paragraph 3.2, there is no *speech* or *special sound* present. The only sound are the following lyrics of the song *A little less conversation*: "Satisfy me." These lyrics underscore the idea of intimacy, when interpreting them as satisfying someone sexually.

Placing this shot in the context of the entire video, makes it possible to see a line of development. Following the lyrics of the *music*, shots in which the characters look at each other are alternated with shots in which the characters walk away. The final shot then shows the characters holding each other. The *editing* of the shots, accompanied by the *sound*, can then be interpreted as the development of Jane and Maura starting off flirting with each other, and getting together by the end of the song.

^{73 &}quot;Sailor Man." Rizzoli & Isles. Turner Broadcasting System. Turner Network Television, 25 juli 2011.

⁷⁴ Sara Kelley, (2012). *Rizzoli & Isles – The Eye Sex* [Online video]. Geraadpleegd 1 december 2015, op https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=ZzOyD0s4_fc

⁷⁵ Appendix Figure 1.1 – Fan video: The Eye Sex. Shot-to-shot analysis, 61.

⁷⁶ Appendix Figure 2.1 – Fan video: The Eye Sex. Song text: A little less conversation, by Elvis Presley.



The three analyzed observations show that the *poached* materials have been transformed into a new original text. In this new text, an alternate representation of the relationship between Jane and Maura has been created by a particular use of *sound* and *editing*. The relationship between Jane and Maura is now represented as flirtatious and eventually romantic. With that, the sexuality of both characters has been rethought. Based on these findings this video can be considered as a *queer* fan video, following Kreisinger's definition. Besides that, the fan-generated romance between Jane and Maura also places this fan video in the *slash* genre.

4. MediaWest

How are editing and sound used for the representation of the main character's relationship in a MediaWest fan video?

Bloopers, interview photo shoots and the original television series. These are the three sources of visual material used in the fan video *Rizzoli & Isles – Friends [Humor*]. As the title already indicates, humor is an important aspect of this video. Besides that, the different sources used, pull the viewers into a new context, that of the co-acting actresses who play Jane and Maura.

Following chapter 3, I have researched the fan video Friends [Humor] following Butlers

⁷⁷ Lois Thirteen, (2013). *Rizzoli & Isles – Friends [Humor]* [Online video]. Geraadpleegd 1 december 2015, op https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=p069aYGLrcU

descriptive stylistics. The results of this research can be found in the appendix, in figures 1.2, 2.2 and 3 till 6. The *analytic stylistics* will have a different structure than the previous one, because the use of *bloopers* and interviews has offered me access to a new context. The three observations are then not entirely based on one example, but a combination of a few.

4.1 Bloopers

Bloopers are short sequences, cut out of the original series, in which the actors made a mistake or were simply having fun. These *bloopers* are generally speaking fun to watch. By using *bloopers* as a *source*, the fan video has already given direction to the representation of the relationship between Jane and Maura in two ways.

First of all, by using *bloopers* as a *source* the viewer gets to see the actresses Angie Harmon and Sasha Alexander having fun at their job, acting out the characters Jane and Maura. We have then been made aware that the relationship between Jane and Maura is related to the relationship between Angie and Sasha. In this context, the relationship is represented as a business relationship, since both actresses are first and foremost doing their job.

However, in the *poached bloopers* the actresses are constantly having fun, laughing, dancing and making funny faces. Besides the business relationship, which tends to be seen as professional and serious, there is also a sense of friendship present. The *bloopers* itself then cause a dual representation of the relationship.

In these four shots of *bloopers* Angie and Sasha can be seen together. In the first shot, the actresses are simply laughing. The second shot shows Sasha fixing Angie's hair, that is continuously getting in front of her face. In shot three, Sasha is laughing at Angie's dancing. And in the last shot, Angie is making a funny face, while Sasha is laughing.⁷⁸

While the *bloopers* already suggest that the coworkers Angie and Sasha are having fun, the *sound* and further *editing* of the video emphasize this even more. The video is accompanied by The Rembrandts song *I'll be there for you*.⁷⁹ The song is well-known because it is the theme-song of the television series FRIENDS.⁸⁰ The lyrics of the song can be interpreted as having loyal friends that will always be there for you.

⁷⁸ Appendix Figure 1.2 Fan video: Friends. Shot-to-shot analysis, 12, 82, 95, 106.

⁷⁹ Appendix Figure 2.2 Fan video: Friends. Song text: I'll be there for you, by The Rembrandts.

⁸⁰ Ti Ger, (2011). FRIENDS - Theme Song (Intro) [Online video]. Geraadpleegd 10 december 2015, op https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Niu9Zmrx0p8



While the song does fill up the entire video, it is placed in the background, with the *speech* and *special sounds* getting preference. Shot 12, the *medium shot* of less than one second, shows both actresses laughing, emphasizing their upper bodies. In shot 82, both actresses are smiling under the sound of the lyrics: "Someone I'll always laugh with." The short *medium-close up* shot points out Sasha's movement and the expressions on both their faces. In shot 95 we can see Angie dancing in a *long shot*, showing her entire body. Finally, shot 106 is a *medium-close up*, showing Angie's expression while she is making a funny face. In the front we see Sasha laughing and the lyrics, "I'll be there for you" can be heard.

Only shot 82 seems to be literally referring to and expressing the music lyrics. However, the remaining shots are cut to the beat of the song and express the songs theme of friendship. The *bloopers*, accompanied by this specific song, then clearly emphasize the relationship between the actresses Angie and Sasha as coworkers and friends.

⁸¹ Ti Ger, (2011). FRIENDS - Theme Song (Intro) [Online video]. Geraadpleegd 10 december 2015, op https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Niu9Zmrx0p8

⁸² Appendix Figure 2.2 Fan video: Friends. Song text: I'll be there for you, by The Rembrandts.

4.2 TV Guide Magazine

By *poaching* shots from a *TV Guide Magazine* photo shoot, the video sends the viewer towards the context of Angie and Sasha, co-acting as Jane and Maura. Similar to the use of *bloopers*, these photo shoot shots point out the relationship between the actresses Angie and Sasha, instead of the characters Jane and Maura.



The shots seen above have been *poached* from three different photo shoots for the *TV Guide Magazine*. In the shots, Angie and Sasha are posing for the camera, having fun and smiling.

The shots vary in both duration and camera distance, from less than one second to three,

⁸³ TV Guide Magazine is both a print as well as an online magazine, aimed at television news, including interviews, photo shoots and gossip. The official homepage is: http://www.tvguidemagazine.com/

and from a *medium-close up* to a *medium long shot*. These shots then show the actresses' expressions and bodies in various ways. While the actresses are laughing, the presence of the *TV Guide Magazine* logo in the left corner, underscores the fact that we are viewing a job related action, the promoting of the television series RIZZOLI & ISLES.

Accompanying the shots are the following lyrics: "But she didn't tell you when the world has brought you down to your knees that", "Cause you're there for me too", "Like I've been there before, I'll be there for you". 84 Similar to the *bloopers*, the shots do not literally express the lyrics, but they do show the actress together, having fun and with that expressing their friendship.

4.3 Friends

Relevant for both the *bloopers* and the *TV Guide Magazine* shots, is the observation that the fan video resembles the intro of the television series FRIENDS in several ways. Similar to the FRIENDS intro, the fan video has a lot of *camera movement*, with over half of the shots *tracking* or *zooming*. Besides that, half of the shots have a duration of under one second, which is also very similar to the FRIENDS intro, which consists out of many short shots. The combined use of *bloopers* and *poached* shots from the original television series, can be seen as a reference to the FRIENDS intro, in which scenes from the original series have been used, but also scenes that were specifically made for the intro. These notions are finally also supported by the FRIENDS theme song and the fact that the other characters can also be seen in the fan video, thus showing a group of friends.⁸⁵

Shots from the fan video and the FRIENDS intro, *poached* from both the television series as well as other sources, can be seen in the pictures on the next page.

The relevance of this remark to the representation of the relationship between Jane and Maura lies in the idea that the television series FRIENDS is all about friendship. By emphasizing all these aspects, similar to the FRIENDS intro, the fan video is pointing out the importance of this friendship for their own video and representation of the characters.

⁸⁴ Appendix Figure 2.2 Fan video: Friends. Song text: I'll be there for you, by The Rembrandts.

⁸⁵ Ti Ger, (2011). FRIENDS - Theme Song (Intro) [Online video]. Geraadpleegd 10 december 2015, op https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Niu9Zmrx0p8



While the sexuality of Jane and Maura in the original text has not been altered, the representation of their friendship has been placed in a new context. Because there is no romantic relationship constructed between Jane and Maura, this video is not part of the *slash* genre. However, using Kreisinger's definition, this video could be considered as a comment on images of *heteronormativity*, even without representing a non-heterosexual relationship. To comment on does not necessarily mean to go against, therefore a heterosexual representation can still be seen as *queer*.

5. Mary van Deusen

How are editing and sound used for the representation of the main character's relationship in a Mary van Deusen fan video?

Where both fan video titles *The Eye Sex* and *Friends [Humor]* refer to the most important aspects in the videos, so does the title *Rizzoli & Isles – Arms*. ⁸⁶ The word arms, as guideline of the video, refers not only to the song that accompanies the video, but also to the chosen visual material and editing.

Following the previous two chapters, the results of the *descriptive stylistics* of this video can be found in the appendix, in figures 1.3, 2.3 and 3 till 6. Having the original television series as only source for the visual material, the *analytic stylistics* will take shape in the discussion of the three most relevant observations, similar to chapter 3.

5.1 "Seventeen Ain't So Sweet"

In the thirteenth episode of season two, *Seventeen Ain't So Sweet*, Jane is attending her High School Reunion. Because her boyfriend Casey could not come, Maura is going with Jane instead. At the reunion Jane and Maura walk into Giovanni, a friend that Maura had been on a few dates with. At the time when they were dating, Maura and Jane had convinced Giovanni that they were a lesbian couple, to get rid of Giovanni. To get rid of him again at the reunion, Jane and Maura pretend to still be a couple.⁸⁷

A total of six seconds of the fan video is devoted to the scene described above. The *poached* visual material can be seen in shots 78, 155 and 156. In shot 78 of the fan video, Jane places a name tag on Maura's breasts, with the word geek on it. In shots 155 and 156, Maura gets closer to Jane, placing her head on Jane's shoulder. Bane touching Maura's breasts can be seen as an intimate act, since generally speaking breasts are considered as private body parts. This notion is supported by Maura getting close to Jane, holding her and placing her head on Jane's shoulder.

In the original context, shots 155 and 156 take place when Maura and Jane walk into Giovanni and have to pretend they are still in a relationship. Shot 78 is originally placed after shots 155 and 156, when Jane and Maura are talking to an old classmate of Jane. During the conversation Maura calls herself a science geek, hence the name tag she gets from Jane saying geek. The

⁸⁶ Cuttingtheonion, (2011). *Rizzoli & Isles – Arms* [Online video]. Geraadpleegd 1 december 2015, op https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Ck028H-YKkc

^{87 &}quot;Seventeen Ain't So Sweet." *Rizzoli & Isles*. Turner Broadcasting System. Turner Network Television, 12 december 2012.

⁸⁸ Appendix Figure 1.3 Fan video: Arms. Shot-to-shot analysis, 78, 155-156.

relationship between Jane and Maura in the original context is that of friends.⁸⁹

The shots have been taken out of its original context, of friends pretending to be in a relationship, and placed in a new one, in which the characters seem to be intimate and together.



As mentioned, the guideline of the video is the word 'arms'. Not only is *Arms* the title of the fan video, it is also the title of the song that accompanies the video, Christina Perri's song *Arms*. The song is about love and feeling safe in someones arms. The most repeated text in the song reflects this: "You put your arms around me and I'm home."

^{89 &}quot;Seventeen Ain't So Sweet." *Rizzoli & Isles*. Turner Broadcasting System. Turner Network Television, 12 december 2012

⁹⁰ Appendix Figure 2.3 Fan video: Arms. Song text: Arms, by Christina Perri.

⁹¹ Ibidem.

In shot 78 Jane touches Maura's breasts. This action is put forward by using a *medium shot* of a two second *duration*, placing the characters from their breasts upwards in the frame, while giving the viewers above average time to view the action. The only sound during the shot is the *music*, with the following lyric: "close". ⁹² In the shot Jane and Maura do exactly that what the lyric says, they get close, in the sense that they touch each other. This entire motion gets stretched out, by placing the shot in *slow motion*. These aspects combined then really emphasize this moment in which the characters touch.

In shots 155 and 156 a similar situation is shown. However, the emphasis is now not placed on the breasts of Maura, but the heads and thus faces of the characters. The camera distance in shot 155, now a *medium-close up* with *shot duration* of three seconds, makes it possible for the viewer to follow Maura's movement towards Jane. Once Maura's head is leaning on Jane's shoulder, shot 156 offers us a *close up* of the moment they touch. By placing both shots in slow motion, tracking the movement with the camera, not a single second of the motion is lost. With the lyrics, "till you put your arms around me, And I believe", 93 accompanying these two shots, it seems as if the relationship between Jane and Maura is represented as an intimate one.

5.2 "See One, Do One, Teach One"

Besides the shots that emphasize the arms of the characters as they touch, there are several shots in which the characters lie together in bed. The location of these scenes, being the bedroom, is most often seen as a private space in which you especially spend time with your loved one. Jane and Maura lying together in bed could be interpreted as a sign of intimacy.

However, in the original context of the first episode of the first season, *See One, Do One, Teach One*, Jane and Maura sleep in the same bed for quite another reason. ⁹⁴ Jane and Maura are investigating a murder, when the evidence seems to point towards Jane's biggest rival Charles Hoyt, the man who traumatized her. Jane is scared and does not want to be alone with the murderer still out there, so she decides to go to Maura and spend the night there. In bed, Maura tries to distract Jane by talking about other topics. ⁹⁵

The original context in which Jane seeks consolation with her best friend Maura, has been replaced by a new one, in which there is no knowledge about Jane's fear and the murder case.

⁹² Appendix Figure 2.3 Fan video: Arms. Song text: Arms, by Christina Perri.

⁹³ Ibidem

^{94 &}quot;See One, Do One, Teach One." *Rizzoli & Isles*. Turner Broadcasting System. Turner Network Television, 12 juli 2011.

⁹⁵ Ibidem.



Out of the original scene in the bed, eight shots have been *poached*, from which five can be seen in the table above.

The shot I want to focus on is shot 15, in which Jane and Maura are lying in bed looking forward, when Jane turns to her right and looks at Maura. While it seems like there is not much happening in this shot, the stylistic choices clearly give a specific meaning to the relationship between Jane and Maura.⁹⁶

Most of the shots in the video have a *duration* of less than one second. The fact that the five shots seen above are all between two and four seconds, shows that these bed scenes are particularly

⁹⁶ Cuttingtheonion, (2011). *Rizzoli & Isles – Arms* [Online video]. Geraadpleegd 1 december 2015, op https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Ck028H-YKkc

important. Shot 15 is a *medium-close up* of three seconds. By focusing on the faces of the characters and stretching out the scene over three seconds, there seems to be an emphasis on the moment that Jane looks at Maura. Besides that, the shot is in *slow motion*, which could be in service of making the viewer notice the way Jane looks at Maura. In addition, this shot is accompanied by the lyrics, "hold my heart" as part of the sentence "I never thought that you would be the one to hold my heart". Holding someones heart is, in the context of this song, a romantic gesture of love.

The *sound*, the location of the shot and the *editing* combined then make an obvious statement, Jane and Maura love each other.

5.3 "He Ain't Heavy, He's My Brother"

Having focused on the frequent arms related and bed scenes, it is important to look at the one sentence of *speech* present in the video. During the entire video the *music* is very prominent. The fact that the last sentence of the song gets turned down in volume to make the *speech* audible, could suggest that this sentence of *speech* is very important and meaningful.

In the twelfth episode of season two, Maura almost kisses Jane's brother Tommy, which resulted in Jane and Maura having an argument. However, the two best friends work it out by the end of the episode. Maura then tells Jane that she will not pursue Tommy, saying: "I like Tommy, a lot, but I love you." ⁹⁹



In the fan video, only a small part of this scene has been *poached* and creatively adapted. First of all, the sentence of the *speech* has been shortened, by cutting out the part in which Maura says: "I like Tommy, a lot, but." The *speech* used in the fan video is the remaining part of the sentence: "I love you." Shot 196 then conveniently becomes Maura's love declaration to Jane, placed at the end

⁹⁷ Appendix Figure 1.3 Fan video: Arms. Shot-to-shot analysis, 15.

⁹⁸ Appendix Figure 2.3 Fan video: Arms. Song text: Arms, by Christina Perri.

^{99 &}quot;He Ain't Heavy, He's My Brother." *Rizzoli & Isles*. Turner Broadcasting System. Turner Network Television, 5 december 2012.

of the video, making it seem that all the previous shots lead up to this moment. 100

Even though the *speech* overrides the *music*, we still hear the final sentence of the song in the background: "You put your arms around me and I'm home." This key sentence of the song underscores ones more the representation of the relationship between Jane and Maura as a loving and intimate one.

The three observations then all emphasize the representation of an intimate relationship between Jane and Maura. By representing the relationship as intimate and romantic, the fan video has altered the original heterosexuality of the characters. Similar to the analysis in chapter three, this fan video can be seen as both *queer* ad well as *slash*. The video is a *queer* fan video in the sense that it critiques on the images of *heteronormativity* from the original television series. Besides that, the fan video is part of the *slash* genre, because of the generated romance between Jane and Maura.

6. Conclusion and Recommendation

This research was based on the following question: how do fans of the television series RIZZOLI & ISLES represent the main character's relationship in their fan videos? To answer this question I have analysed three fan videos about RIZZOLI & ISLES, each representing one of the three main *fan vidding genres*, allowing me to analyze the *Rizzles fandom* in a broad

These analyses of the three fan videos have produced the following results. First of all, it is clear that both the *sound* and *editing* play important parts in the fan videos and the representation of the main character's relationship. The stylistic elements *sound* and *editing* are then the language through which meaning has been given to the relationship between Jane and Maura. Through the analysis of the language in the three fan videos I came to the conclusion that every *fan vidding genre* has a different approach and in every fan video a different representation was interpreted.

The *San Francisco School* video, *The Eye Sex*, represented the relationship between Maura and Jane as flirtatious and romantic. The repetition and focus on the eye movement of both Jane and Maura guided the video. The fan video can be considered as both a *queer* as well as a *slash* fan video, in which the *heteronormativity* of the original series is challenged and the sexuality rethought.

The *MediaWest* video, *Friends [Humor]*, represented the relationship between Maura and Jane similar to the one represented in the original series, a friendship as well as a working

¹⁰⁰Appendix Figure 1.3 Fan video: Arms. Shot-to-shot analysis, 196.

¹⁰¹Appendix Figure 2.3 Fan video: Arms. Song text: Arms, by Christina Perri.

relationship. The stylistic elements that stood out were the use of bloopers and photo shoots as other visual material sources. This video is not part of the *slash* genre, but could be considered as a comment on the images of *heteronormativity* from the original series.

The *Mary van Deusen* video, *Arms*, represented the relationship between Jane and Maura as intimate and romantic. Through a strong connection between the *sound* and the *editing*, a story was clearly being told. This fan video can be seen as both *queer* as well as *slash*, rethinking sexuality by challenging *heteronormativity*.

All three fan videos, representing different genres, have offered me different ways of using *sound* and *editing* when transforming material, poached from popular culture, into a new context. The fans have then represented the relationship between Jane and Maura through their language, the *sound* and *editing*, bringing together *fan studies* and *queer theory* in the discussion of sexuality and *heteronormativity*. While not every video involved a *slash* representation, the videos still bring up the topic of sexuality for discussion.

For further research it would be recommended to analyze multiple fan videos from each *fan vidding genre*, to guarantee that the many uses of style within the genres are represented. Because of certain limitations, I was only able to select one video per genre. The observations I analyzed within each video were then selected in order to answer my research question. Besides that, I made a clear choice to focus only on the stylistic elements of *sound* and *editing*, although there are several other elements that could benefit this research as well. My recommendation would be to look at each video from a different point of view, by focusing on other observations and/or other stylistic elements, depending on your research question.

Literature

Bailey, Rebekah. "Queerbaiting on TV." [2013] *LASH* – 25-11-2015 http://lash-mag.weebly.com/pop-culture/queerbaiting-on-tv

Bordwell, D. en K. Thompson. Film Art: An Introduction. New York: McGraw-Hill, 2010.

Butler, Jeremy. Television Style. Londen: Routledge, 2010.

Chambers, Samuel A. The Queer Politics of Television. London: I.B. Tauris, 2009.

Coppa, Francesca. "Women, Star Trek and the Early Development of Fannish Vidding." [2008] *Transformative Works and Cultures* – 21-11-2015 http://journal.transformativeworks.org/index.php/twc/article/view/44/64

Dyer, Richard. The Matter of Images: Essays on Representations. London: Routledge, 2002.

Hall, Stuart, red. *Representation: Cultural Representation and Signifying Practices*. London: Sage Publications, 1997.

Hoogland, C. Renée. "Seksualiteit als strijdtoneel: de tomboy en queer studies." In *Gender in media, kunst en cultuur*, geredigeerd door Rosemarie Buikema en Iris van der Tuin, 109-122. Bussum: Uitgeverij Coutinho, 2007.

Jenkins, Henry. "How to Watch a Fan-Vid." [2006] *Confessions of an Aca-Fan* – 16-11-2015 http://henryjenkins.org/2006/09/how to watch a fanvid.html

Jenkins, Henry. *Textual Poachers: Television Fans & Participatory Culture*. New York: Routledge, 1992.

Kreisinger, Elisa. "Queer video remix and LGBTQ online communities." [2012] *Transformative Works and Cultures* – 21-12-2015

http://journal.transformativeworks.org/index.php/twc/article/view/395/264

Lind, Amy, red. Development, Sexual Rights and Global Governance. New York: Routledge, 2010.

"Much ado about queerbaiting." [2014] *Beyond Tropes* – 01-12-2015 https://beyondtropes.wordpress.com/2014/06/27/much-ado-about-queerbaiting/

RIZZOLI & ISLES. Download. United States: Turner Network Television, 2010.

Rose. "How Do We Solve A Problem Like "Queerbaiting"?: On TV's Not-So-Subtle Gay Subtext." [2013] *Autostraddle* – 25-11-2015

http://www.autostraddle.com/how-do-we-solve-a-problem-like-queerbaiting-on-tvs-not-so-subtle-gay-subtext-182718/

Walker, Jesse. "Remixing Television: Francesca Coppa on the vidding underground." [2008] Reason Magazine – 16-11-2015

https://reason.com/archives/2008/07/18/remixing-television

Videos

ChallengingMedia. (2006). *Representation & the Media: Featuring Stuart Hall* [Online video]. Geraadpleegd 5 januari 2016, op https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=aTzMsPqssOY

Cuttingtheonion. (2011). *Rizzoli & Isles – Arms* [Online video]. Geraadpleegd 1 december 2015, op https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Ck028H-YKkc

Kelley, Sara. (2012). *Rizzoli & Isles – The Eye Sex* [Online video]. Geraadpleegd 1 december 2015, op https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=ZzOyD0s4_fc

Thirteen, Lois. (2013). *Rizzoli & Isles – Friends [Humor]* [Online video]. Geraadpleegd 1 december 2015, op https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=p069aYGLrcU

Ti Ger, (2011). FRIENDS - Theme Song (Intro) [Online video]. Geraadpleegd 10 december 2015, op https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Niu9Zmrx0p8

Episodes

"He Ain't Heavy, He's My Brother." *Rizzoli & Isles*. Turner Broadcasting System. Turner Network Television, 5 december 2012.

"I Kissed a Girl." *Rizzoli & Isles*. Turner Broadcasting System. Turner Network Television, 16 augustus 2010.

"Sailor Man." *Rizzoli & Isles*. Turner Broadcasting System. Turner Network Television, 25 juli 2011.

"See One, Do One, Teach One." *Rizzoli & Isles*. Turner Broadcasting System. Turner Network Television, 12 juli 2010.

"Seventeen Ain't So Sweet." *Rizzoli & Isles*. Turner Broadcasting System. Turner Network Television, 12 december 2011.

"What Doesn't Kill You." *Rizzoli & Isles*. Turner Broadcasting System. Turner Network Television, 5 juni 2012.

Appendix

Figure 1.1 Fan video: The Eye Sex. Shot-to-shot analysis.

Shot Number, Camera distance, Shot duration.	Figure.	Speech, Special Sounds.	Speed of motion, Editing Graphics, Camera Movement, Source visual material.
1 2 sec.	THO EYE SEX	Written text: "The Eye Sex."	Source: Other.
2 2 sec.	Is Legendary. Observe ➤ ₩ 4 08/24	Written text: "Is Legendary. Observe."	Source: Other.
3 Medium close up <1 sec.	► HM (* 000/243		Fade in.
4 Medium shot 2 sec.	► PM 4: 006/2-3		
5 Medium close up 2 sec.	► HI (* 000/245		Camera moves to the right (tracking).

6 Medium close up 2 sec.	► PH 4× 031/245	Camera moves to the right (tracking).
7 Medium close up 1 sec.	► NH 4× 037/20 © □ [2]	Camera moves to the left (tracking).
8 Medium close up 1 sec.	▶ NH (x 015/240	
9 Medium close up <1 sec.	► PH (* 037/24) ♦ □ []	
10 Medium close up 1 sec.	► PH (* 017/24)	Camera moves to the right (tracking).
11 Medium close up 1 sec.	→ W 4× 0207243	Camera shakes.

12 Medium close up <1 sec.	N (x 022/249	Camera moves to the right (tracking).
13 Medium close up <1 sec.	► M (x 023/249	Camera shakes.
14 Medium shot 1 sec.	→ H (+ 226/24)	Camera follows Maura to the right and front (tracking).
15 Medium close up 1 sec.	► M (× 028/249	Camera moves to the left (tracking).
16 Medium close up 1 sec.	► NH 4+ 929/2/9 © □ €3	
17 Medium close up 8 sec.	► NH (* 034/24)	Camera follows Maura upwards and downwards (tracking).

Medium close up 2 sec.	► HI 4: 037/243 ♦ □ []	Camera moves to the right, around Jane (tracking).
19 Medium close up 1 sec.	► M 4× 0/0/20 ♦ □ €2	
20 Medium long shot 1 sec.	► HI 4: 045/243 © □ 13	Camera follows Maura to the left (tracking).
21 Medium close up 2 sec.	Marie Mar	Camera moves to the right, including Jane in the screen (tracking).
Medium shot 4 sec.	► MI (* 08/20 © □ []	Camera moves upwards (tracking).
23 Medium close up <1 sec.	> >	Camera moves to the left (tracking).

24 Medium close up 1 sec.	► HI (+ 959/24)	
25 Medium close up <1 sec.	► PH 4: 033/233	
26 Medium close up <1 sec.	► PH (+ 653/245)	
27 Medium close up 1 sec.	► M (1: 054/243	
28 Medium close up 2 sec.	→ H (+ 955/243	
29 Medium close up 1 sec.	▶ ₩ 41 058/243	

30 Medium close up 1 sec.	▶ № ◆ 699/243 ☼ □ []	Camera follows Jane downwards (tracking).
31 Medium shot 1 sec.	TACGREGOR THE CHILDREN 1 191/29	Camera moves to the left (tracking).
32 Medium close up 3 sec.	> H 4 19/29 ♦ □ [3]	Camera moves to the left and bottom (tracking).
33 Medium close up 2 sec.	POLICE DEPT P	
34 Medium close up 1 sec.	► NH 41- 199729	
35 Medium long shot 1 sec.	► M (4 30/20)	Camera moves to the left (tracking).

36 Medium long shot 3 sec.	► HI 4: 115/245		Camera follows Maura to the right and then fron (tracking).
37 Medium shot <1 sec.	► PH 4: 1377245		
38 Medium close up 2 sec.	▶ ₩ 4: 129/80 Q □ ()		
39 2 sec.	Ok. Let's Up the Ante	Written text: "Ok. Let's Up the Ante."	Source: Other.
40 Medium shot 4 sec.	► PH (* 125/243		Fade in. Camera moves to the left, top and bottom (tracking).
41 Medium close up 2 sec.	► M (* 128/24)		Camera moves to the right, including Jane in the screen (tracking).

42 Medium shot 1 sec.	► M ← 131/29	Camera follows Maura to the right and left (tracking).
43 Medium long shot 2 sec.	► PH (* 131/28)	
44 Medium shot 2 sec.	► PM (* 123/24)	Camera shakes and moves to the left (tracking).
45 Medium close up 1 sec.	► PH (* 196/24)	Camera follows Jane and Maura to the left (tracking).
46 Medium shot 3 sec.	► PH 4× 127/25	Camera follows Jane and Maura to the left (tracking).
47 Medium shot 1 sec.	► PH 4: 14/249 ♦ □ []	

48 Medium shot <1 sec.	► M ← 14/243	Camera follows Maura to the left (tracking).
49 Medium long shot 1 sec.	→ M 40 141/28 0 □ [3]	
50 Medium long shot 4 sec.	► H (* 147/24)	Camera shakes and moves downwards (tracking).
51 Medium shot 4 sec.	► M 4-14/24 Q □ [2	Camera follows Jane and Maura to the right and back (tracking).
52 Medium shot 4 sec.	► HI 4: 15/245 ♦ □ []	Camera moves to the left (tracking).
53 Medium shot 3 sec.	► M (* 19724)	Camera moves to the left and top (tracking).

54 Medium long shot 8 seconden	► HI 4 26/245	Camera follows Jane and Maura to the left (tracking).
55 Medium close up 2 sec.	► M ← 201/29 ♦ □ []	Camera follows Jane to the left (tracking).
56 Medium close up 2 sec.	▶ 94	Camera follows Maura to the left and top (tracking).
57 Medium long shot 4 sec.	► HI ← 216/28	Camera zooms in. Fade out.
58 2 sec.	▶ 9H ◆ 218/245 ♦ □ []	Source: Other.
59 Medium shot 2 sec.	► 191 (1 218/24)	Camera shakes. Fade out.

60 2 sec.	► ₩ ♦ 228/249 ☼ □ 〔 〕		Source: Other.
61 Medium close up 2 sec.	► PH (223/24)		Fade out.
62 2 sec.	▶ NH 40 225/245		Source: Other.
63 3 sec.	Yep. That's what we though	Written text: "Yep. That's what we thought."	Source: Other.
64 4 sec.	THANK YOU FOR WATCHING: I OWN NOTHING. RIZZOLI & ISLES IS PRODUCED BY WARNER HORIZON TELEVISION, AND BASED ON THE BOOK SERIES BY TESS GERRITSEN. M 《H选》以中 O IS MADE BY A FAN, FOR FANS 会 口 C 2	Written text: "Thank you for watching! I own nothing. Rizzoli & Isles is produced by warner horizon television, and based on the book series by Tess Gerritsen."	Source: Other.
65 4 sec.	THIS VIDEO IS MADE BY A FAN, FOR FANS, AND FOR ENTERTAINMENT PURPOSES ONLY. NO COPYRIGHT INFRINGEMENT INTENDED. A LITTLE LESS CONVERSATION ELVIS PRESLEY M 4 228/249	Written text: "This video is made by a fan, for fans, and for entertainment purposes only. No copyright infringement intended. A little	Source: Other.

		less conversation. Elvis Presley."	
66 5 sec.	▶ ₩ ♦ 239/20 ☼ □ []		Source: Other.

Figure 1.2 Fan video: Friends. Shot-to-shot analysis.

Shot Number, Camera distance, Shot duration.	Figure	Speech, Special Sounds.	Speed of motion, Editing Graphics, Camera Movement, Source visual material.
1 Medium close up 1 sec.	▶ № (• 007/384)	Jane: "Ma, I am so ma?"	Fade in. Camera moves to the left (tracking.)
2 Medium shot 3 sec.	► PM (1- 000/304	Jane: "MaMaa?"	Camera moves to the top, right and then bottom, bringing Jane inside the frame (tracking).
3 Medium shot 2 sec.	► PM (= 004/304)	Jane: -screams in pillow-	Camera shakes.
4 Medium shot 1 sec.	→ M 4 - 00/300 → □ €3	Jane: -screams in pillow-	Dissolve to shot 5.

5 Medium shot 3 sec.	PH (* 0.08/40.4	Maura: "Person" -laughing-	Source: Bloopers.
6 Long shot <1 sec.	RIZZOLI & ISEES (NI) HD	Jane: "Really?"	Camera follows Jane to the left and bottom (tracking).
7 Medium close up <1 sec.	RIZZOLI A ISLES (NY)	Jane: "Really?"	Camera moves to the right (tracking).
8 Medium close up <1 sec.	RIZZOU)	Jane: "Really?"	Camera moves to the left (tracking).
9 Medium close up <1 sec.	RIZZOLI & ISLËS (NY) ▶ ₱₱1 ﴿ 213/295	Jane: "Really?"	Camera moves to the left and bottom (tracking).
10 Medium shot <1 sec.	RICZGIO ISLES (NII).	Maura: "Really?"	

11 Medium close up <1 sec.	RIZZOLI & ISLËS (TNT) PRI 4. 814/384 DE 10. 6.5	Jane: "Really?"	Camera moves to the left (tracking).
12 Medium shot <1 sec.	M 4	Jane: "Really?" -laughing-	Camera moves to the right (tracking). Source: Bloopers.
13 Medium close up <1 sec.	P (* 616/364 C)	Jane: "Really?"	
14 Medium shot <1 sec.	P No. 4 € 0167351	Jane: "Really?"	
Long shot <1 sec.	M (5 917/394		
16 Medium long shot <1 sec.	M- 4x (018/354)		

Long shot <1 sec.	FH 4 011/304		
18 Medium long shot <1 sec.	► MH (* 019/204)		Dissolve to shot 19.
19 Medium close up 3 sec.	HIZZOLI AISLES (NI) HD	Jane: "God, when was that made, November?"	Camera shakes. Dissolve to shot 20.
20 Medium close up <1 sec.	RIZZOLI & ISLES (NT) \$\frac{1}{2} \cdot \	Maura: -spits-	
21 Medium close up 1 sec.	RIZZOLI RISLES (NT)	Jane: "Maura?"	Camera moves to the right and bottom (tracking).
Medium close up 2 sec.	RIZZOLI & ISL ^{EES} (TNT) O: C27/384	Maura: "18 th century beer sucks." -laughing-	Camera moves to the right and top (tracking). Dissolve to shot 23.

Medium close up 1 sec.	RIZEDU A BISLES (NI) HO	Jane: "Is that sarcasm?"	Camera shakes. Dissolve to shot 24.
24 Medium close up 1 sec.	► PH 4× 030/304 □ □ □ □	Jane: "That is sarcasm."	Dissolve to shot 25.
25 Medium close up 2 sec.	RIZZOLI 8 ISLES (NT) HD	Jane: "I can not wait to see what you are going to wear." (sarcasm)	Camera moves to the left and top (tracking). Dissolve to shoy 26.
26 Medium shot 3 sec.	RIZZOLI & ISLES (TN)	Jane: "Oh my god, I'm so excited, I might need a paper bag." (sarcasm)	Dissolve to shot 27.
27 Medium close up <1 sec.	RIZZOLI & TISLËS (TNT) PRI (x 0.27/254) C	-kick- Jane: "Au."	Camera moves to the right and bottom (tracking). Dissolve to shot 28.
28 Medium close up 1 sec.	RIZZOLI & ISLES (TNT) C 029/ESI C 0.5 3	Jane: -grunts-	Camera shakes. Dissolve to shot 29.

29 Medium close up <1 sec.	RIZZOLIA ISLES (INT)	-kick-	
30 Medium shot <1 sec.	M (* 041/354) → M (* 041/354)		Dissolve to shot 31.
31 Medium close up <1 sec.	RIZZOLI & ISKES (TIT) PHI (* 0.417/304	-kick-	
32 Medium close up <1 sec.	RIZZOLIA ISLES (TVT) PH API 840/304	Maura: "Au."	Dissolve to shot 33.
33 Medium shot <1 sec.	5/270LI 8/CES (TNT) (* 047/304 (* 047/304	Jane: "Au."	Dissolve to shot 34.
34 Medium close up <1 sec.	P 198 € 0.05/304	-kick-	Camera shakes.

35 Medium close up <1 sec.	► PM (* 84/304)	Maura: "Au."	Dissolve to shot 36.
36 Medium shot 1 sec.	RIZZOC SUES (NN)	Jane: "Au."	Camera moves to the left and right (tracking). Dissolve to shot 37.
37 Medium close up 1 sec.	RIZZOL AFSLES (TN)	Jane: "Sounds painful."	Dissolve to shot 38.
38 Medium shot <1 sec.	220 L ST 18 (* 049/204)		Camera shakes. Dissolve to shot 39.
Medium close up 1 sec.	Page 4 - 849/364 Q2 □ - 6-3	Jane: "Thank you." -laughing-	Camera moves to the right (tracking). Dissolve to shot 40. Source: Bloopers.
40 Medium close up 2 sec.	RIZZOLI 8 ÁSLES (TNT) MD	Maura: "What is that white substance?"	Camera shakes.

41 Medium shot 1 sec.	RIZZOLI 8 ISLUS (NI) HD	Jane: "Fluff?"	Camera shakes. Dissolve to shot 42.
42 Medium long shot <1 sec.	H (* 053/384		Camera moves to the top (tracking).
43 Medium long shot <1 sec.	PRZZOLI 8 ISLES (TNT) Pri 4. 024/254 D II. 0.5.	-screams-	
44 Medium long shot <1 sec.	RIZZOLI & ISLËS (TIT) PHI 4: 054/304	Maura: "Owh."	Camera moves to the right (pan). Dissolve to shot 45.
45 Medium shot <1 sec.	RIZZOLI A ISLES (NT) HD	Maura: "No."	
46 Medium close up <1 sec.	RIZZOLI & ALLANS (TRI) HD NI 4 0.55/304 DI © 0.5	Jane: "No."	

47 Medium long shot 1 sec.	₩ 4- 054/300: \$\dots \cdot \c	Maura: "No?" Jane: "Yes."	
48 Medium close up <1 sec.	R ZZOLI & ALBUST (NT) HD	Jane: "No."	
49 Medium close up 1 sec.	RIZZOLI & IS-ES (IM) HD	Jane: "No?"	Camera follows Jane (tracking).
50 Medium close up <1 sec.	RIZZOLI & BLESS (TNT) HD	Maura: "Shut up."	Camera shakes. Dissolve to shot 51.
51 Close up 2 sec.	Med 4x 191/204 ♦ □ \$2	Jane: "Gee, I'm having so much fun." (sarcasm)	Dissolve to shot 52.
52 Medium close up 1 sec.	→ N 1 27254		Camera moves to the right (tracking). Dissolve to shot 53.

53 Medium close up 1 sec	→ No. 4× 104/304		Camera moves to the left while going up and down (tracking). Dissolve to shot 54.
54 Medium long shot 1 sec.	GUDE COUNTY TOWN THE CONTY TOWN THE CONTY TOWN THE CONTY		Camera moves to the left while going up and down (tracking). Dissolve to shot 55. Source: TV Guide Magazine.
55 Medium long shot <1 sec.	GIDE 100/2014		Dissolve to shot 56. Source: TV Guide Magazine (image, not video).
56 Medium close up <1 sec.	► PH 4* 169/304 ♦ □ 63	Jane: "What is it?"	Dissolve to shot 57. Source: Bloopers.
57 Medium shot <1 sec.	► PH 4* 108/364	Jane: "What is it?"	Source: Bloopers.
58 Medium close up <1 sec.	M 4: 109/304	Jane: "What is it?"	Camera shakes. Dissolve to shot 59. Source: Bloopers.

Medium close up <1 sec.	► PH (* 130/304	Jane: "What is it?"	Dissolve to shot 60. Source: Bloopers.
60 Medium close up <1 sec.	PH (4 137)3591	Jane: "What is it?"	Dissolve to shot 61. Source: Bloopers.
61 Medium close up <1 sec.	We 41- 1727264	Jane: "What is she?"	Camera moves to the left (tracking). Dissolve to shot 62. Source: Bloopers.
62 Medium shot <1 sec.	► MI 4* 112/284 \$2 □ 50 3	Jane: "What is it?"	Dissolve to shot 63. Source: Bloopers.
63 Medium shot <1 sec.	PH 4* 113/384 Qr □ 0.3	Jane: "What is it?"	Camera follows Jane and Maura to the back and right (tracking). Dissolve to shot 64. Source: Bloopers.
64 Medium close up <1 sec.	► NO. 4× 104/284 ♦ 104/284	Jane: "What is it?"	Dissolve to shot 65. Source: Bloopers.

65 Medium shot 1 sec.	RIZZOLI A ISLES (TNT) HD	Maura: "Shhhhh."	Camera shakes. Dissolve to shot 66.
66 Medium shot 1 sec.	4: 117/304	Maura: "Shhhhh."	Camera shakes. Dissolve to shot 67.
67 Medium close up 1 sec.	→ 10 may 20 may	Maura: "That was awkward."	Camera moves to the left (tracking).
68 Medium close up 1 sec.	► PH (* 119/304 🗘 🗔 🕒	Jane: "You think?"	Camera moves down (tilt). Dissolve to shot 69.
69 Medium shot 1 sec.	RIZZOLI & ISINS (21)	Maura: "Unzip me."	
70 Medium close up <1 sec.	RIZZOLIA ISLES (NI)	Jane: "Why?"	Camera moves to the left (pan). Dissolve to shot 71.

71 Medium close up 2 sec.	RIZZOLI & ISLËS (TNT) This is a 22/25%	Maura: "What did I say?"	Camera moves to the right (pan). Dissolve to shot 72.
72 Medium shot <1 sec.	CUIS- DOTABLE 1 12/124		Camera shakes. Dissolve to shot 73. Source: TV Guide Magazine.
73 Medium long shot 2 sec.	CUID:		Camera zooms out. Dissolve to shot 74. Source: TV Guide Magazine (image, not video).
74 Medium close up 2 sec.	RIZZOL A ISLES (TH)	Maura: "We are LBF's."	Dissolve to shot 75.
75 Medium close up 2 sec.	RIZZOLI & IISLES (TNI) HD O II & 5	Jane: "Is this from the good fridge or the dead people fridge?"	Camera moves to the top and right (tracking). Dissolve to shot 76.
76 Medium shot <1 sec.	PRODUCTION HD	Maura: "What is my ringtone?"	Camera moves to the right (pan).

77 Medium shot <1 sec.	RIZQUI à ISLES (NT) HD		Camera moves to the right (pan). Dissolve to shot 78.
78 Medium shot 3 sec.	DOLLO DE LO COMPANIO	Ringtone: the Piano Sonata No. 2 by Frédéric Chopin (The Funeral March)	Camera shakes. Dissolve to shot 79.
79 Medium close up <1 sec.	PRIZZOLI & ISLES (NY) HD → ₩ (* 141/394	Ringtone: the Piano Sonata No. 2 by Frédéric Chopin (The Funeral March)	Dissolve to shot 80.
80 Medium close up <1 sec.	RIZZOLI & ISLES (INT) HD	Maura: "Nice."	Dissolve to shot 81.
81 Medium close up <1 sec.	► H (* 14)338 ♦ □ (\$)		Camera moves downwards (tracking). Source: Bloopers.
82 Medium close up 2 sec.	Pol 4* 144/354		Camera moves to the right (pan). Dissolve to shot 83. Source: Bloopers.

83 Medium long shot 4 sec.	(* 1-9/30)	-laughing- Jane: "and we are back."	Dissolve to shot 84. Source: Bloopers.
84 Medium shot <1 sec.	131/384 131/384	Jane and Frankie: "Hey ma."	
85 Medium shot 1 sec.	RIZZOLI ISLES (TIX)	Jane and Angela: "Hello."	Dissolve to shot 86.
86 Medium long shot 2 sec.	RIZZOLI 1355 (1914) → 1257/304	Maura: -sigh-	Camera moves to the left, bottom and right (tracking).
87 Medium long shot <1 sec.	RIZZOLI & ISLES (NY) HD	Jane: "Really?"	Dissolve to shot 88.
88 Medium close up 3 sec.	► MH (* 157/364	-laughing-	Camera moves to the left, bottom and follows Barry to the right (tracking). Dissolve to shot 89. Source: Bloopers.

89 Medium shot 1 sec.	► Hel 4: 200/388	-laughing- Maura: "Okay"	Dissolve to shot 90. Source: Bloopers.
90 Long shot <1 sec.	BIZZOLI SISLES (NI) At 201/304 Disc.		
91 Long shot <1 sec.	RIZZOLI 4 SLES (NI	Maura: "Wait."	
92 Medium shot <1 sec.	RIZZOLI 8 ISLES (NV)		Camera moves to the left and bottome (tracking). Dissolve to shot 93.
93 Medium close up 1 sec.	GUIDE AT 264/285		Dissolve to shot 94. Source: TV Guide Magazine.
94 Long shot 2 sec.	No. 1 2 227/354 € 227/354		Camera moves to the left (pan). Dissolve to shot 95. Source: Bloopers.

95 Long shot 1 sec.	→ H (* 20/1304		Dissolve to shot 96. Source: Bloopers.
96 Long shot 2 sec.	NH 4 2117364 ♦ □ 10 2		Dissolve to shot 97. Source: Bloopers.
97 Long shot <1 sec.	₩ 4° 212/364		Dissolve to shot 98. Source: Bloopers.
98 Medium close up <1 sec.	RIZZOLI 8 IŠLĒS PAD	Jane: "Excuse?"	Camera shakes. Dissolve to shot 99.
99 Medium shot <1 sec.	RIZZOLI & MANES (NT) HD		Dissolve to shot 100.
100 Medium long shot 2 sec.	MATERIAL (THY) MATERIAL (THY) A 215/384	Maura: "Well, I couldn't possible hide anythingup there."	Camera moves down, up and towards Maura (tracking).

101 Medium close up <1 sec.	RIZZOLI & ISLES (TNT) PRIZZOLI & ISLES (TNT)		Dissolve to shot 102.
102 Medium close up <1 sec.	RIZZOLI A ISLES (IN) HD	Jane: "So, we are looking for bambi?"	Camera shakes. Dissolve to shot 103.
103 Medium close up 1 sec.	RIZZOLI & ISLES (NT) PM 4° 219/234 \$\tilde{\Phi} \subseteq 5 \tilde{\Phi} \tilde{\Phi}		Camera follows Maura to the left and right (tracking).
104 Medium shot <1 sec.	RIZZOLI 8 ISLES (TRI)		Camera moves to the right (pan). Dissolve to shot 105.
105 Medium shot <1 sec.	► NH 4× 221/2304		Camera moves to the left (pan). Source: Bloopers.
106 Medium close up 1 sec.	► PM (* 227/364		Camera shakes. Source: Bloopers.

107 Medium shot 1 sec.	NH 4√ 227/394		Source: Bloopers.
108 Medium close up <1 sec.	► PH (* 224/304		Dissolve to shot 109. Source: Bloopers.
109 Medium shot 1 sec.	CUDS (220/234)		Camera shakes to the bottom (tracking). Source: TV Guide Magazine.
Medium shot 1 sec.	NH 4 226/284 ♦ □-0-2	-laughing-	Camera moves to the right (tracking). Source: Bloopers.
111 Medium shot <1 sec.	₩ X - 228/384 ♦ 🗘 🗅 83		
Medium long shot 3 sec.	CUISE A SOUTH		Camera moves to the left, bottom and top (tracking). Camera zooms in. Dissolve to shot 113. Source: TV Guide Magazine.

Medium close up 1 sec.	RIZZOLI & ISLES (TNT) PH. 41 231/1001	Jane: "Oh my god!"	Camera moves to the bottom (tracking). Dissolve to shot 114.
114 Medium shot 2 sec.	► PH (* 235/304)	Angela: -laughing-	Dissolve to shot 115. Source: Bloopers.
Medium close up 4 sec.	PH 47 220/201		Camera moves to the left and right (tracking). Dissolve to shot 116.
116 Long shot 1 sec.	RIZZOLI & ISLES (NV)		Camera moves to the left and bottom (tracking). Dissolve to shot 117.
117 Medium close up 2 sec.	► WH 4* 249/384 Q □ 63	Maura: -laughing- -clapping-	Camera moves to the bottom and shakes (tracking). Dissolve to shot 118. Source: Bloopers.
Medium shot 2 sec.	ME 40 2457304 \$ C C C	Jane: "Come on, ma."	

119 Medium close up <1 sec.	RIZZOLI & ISLES (NT) PH (* 247/304)		Camera moves to the left (pan).
120 Medium close up 1 sec.	RIZZOLI È ISLES (N1)		Dissolve to shot 121.
121 Medium close up 1 sec.	RIZZOLER ISLES (INT) HD Q: []; \$];		Dissolve to shot 122.
Medium close up <1 sec.	RIZZOLI & ISLES (TNT)		
Medium close up 1 sec.	MEZZOLI & ISLES (TNT) HD A 233/204		Camera shakes. Dissolve to shot 124.
124 Medium long shot 1 sec.	RIZZOLE ISLES (NI)	Maura: "Cool."	Dissolve to shot 125.

125 Medium close up 1 sec.	P H	Camera moves to the bottom (tracking). Fade out. Source: Bloopers.
126 8 sec.	IN 4× 286/364 ☼ □3-8-3	

Figure 1.3 Fan video: Arms. Shot-to-shot analysis.

Shot Number, Camera distance, Shot duration	Figure	Speech, Special sounds.	Speed of motion, Editing graphics, Camera Movement, Source visual material.
1 Medium long shot <1 sec.	PIZZ I SISES 1: 2		Fade in.
2 Medium long shot <1 sec.	RIZZOLI & SISLES (TIT) HD PH (+ 007/424)		Camera zooms out.
3 Medium shot <1 sec.	► PH (0 001/424)		Dissolve to shot 4.

4 Medium close up <1 sec.	► HI (+ 001/424	
5 Medium shot <1 sec.	M (002/421	Dissolve to shot 6.
6 Medium shot <1 sec.	₩ (° c02/424	
7 Medium shot <1 sec.	RIZZOLI & TSLES (RIT) HD PM (* 009)/424 \$\mathcal{F}\$ = \mathcal{G}\$:	Camera moves towards Jane (tracking).
8 Medium shot <1 sec.	RIZZOLI 8 103 LES (1917) HD ▶ 191 ♦ 094/424	Camera follows Jane (tracking). Dissolve to shot 9.
9 Medium shot <1 sec.	Rp220U & 151.ES (filt) HD ► MH (+ 000/424	Camera follows Jane (tracking). Fade out.

10 <1 sec.	► >>1 ♦ 005/424	Source: Other.
11 Medium shot 3 sec.	BIZZOG A BASES (NT) HD FIZZOG A BASES (NT) HD CT □ □ □	Fade in. Camera moves to the left (pan). Fade out.
12 <1 sec.	► PM 40 0307/424	Source: Other.
13 Medium close up <1 sec.	Rizzou a Aistes (TNI) HD	Dissolve to shot 14.
14 Medium close up <1 sec.	RIZZOLL STATES (NI) ND P → → 11/424	Slow motion. Dissolve to shot 15.
Medium close up 3 sec.	RESCRIPTION OF COMMENTS OF COM	Slow motion. Fade out.

16 <1 sec.	► № 4- 016/424	Source: Other.
17 Medium close up <1 sec.	RIZZOLI & IŠLES (TNT) HD *** 4. 0177424 *** □ [:]	Fade in. Camera shakes downward and to the right (tracking). Dissolve to shot 18.
18 Medium long shot <1 sec.	Figure 1 40 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	Camera moves upwards (tracking). Dissolve to shot 19.
19 Medium long shot <1 sec.	RIZZOLA GILES (THT) HD	Dissolve to shot 20.
20 Medium long shot <1 sec.	RIZZOLI DES (TMT) HD	Dissolve to shot 21.
21 Medium close up <1 sec.	HIZZOU & BISLES (THT HD	Dissolve to shot 22.

Medium shot <1 sec.	RIZZOLI S TALES (NIT) HD PM (* 021/424 \$\tilde{G}\$ = 1:2	Camera moves downward (tracking). Dissolve to shot 23.
23 Medium shot 3 sec.	RIZZOLI 8 ISLES (TVT) HD	Slow motion. Camera follows Jane and Maura to the left (tracking). Fade out.
24 <1 sec.	► >	Source: Other.
25 Medium shot <1 sec.	RIZZUCHU SLES (TIT) HD	Dissolve to shot 26.
26 Medium close up <1 sec.	PZZQU & SULES (PR) HD PH ♦ 027/424	Fade out.
27 <1 sec.	► NH 40 0287428	Source: Other.

28 Medium shot 1 sec.	RIZZOLL ANDREW RIZZOLL ANDREW C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C	Fade in. Camera moves upwards (tracking).
29 Close up 1 sec.	H 6 cm/sss	Slow motion. Camera continues moving upwards and zooms in (tracking).
30 Medium close up 1 sec.	RIZZOLI & ISLES (TNT) HD PH • 0-0317424 © □ ::	Dissolve to shot 31.
31 Medium close up 1 sec.	RIZZOLI & 15155 (TMT) HD ► 101 (1 033)/424	
32 Close up 3 sec.	RIZZOLI & SILES (TNT) HD NH (* 036/4522	Camera moves downwards to Jane's and Maura's hands (tracking). Dissolve to shot 33.
33 Medium close up <1 sec.	RIZZOLI A IŠLEŠ (NO) HD	Fade out.

34 <1 sec.	▶ № ◆ 028/424	Source: Other.
35 Long shot <1 sec.	DIAN (0 0307424	Dissolve to shot 36.
36 Medium long shot 2 sec.	F12201 ISLS (PIT	Slow motion. Fade out.
37 <1 sec.	▶ № ♦ 047/424 ② □ 【】	Source: Other.
38 Medium shot 1 sec.	PM 4 042/424	Fade in. Slow motion.
39 Close up 3 sec.	▶ 891 (c. 0.637/d);	Slow motion. Black and white screen. Fade out (not entirely black).

40 Medium long shot 1 sec.	RIZZOLI & BLES (TM) HD	Dissolve to shot 41.
41 Medium shot <1 sec.	MIZZONI & INITERIOR (NOT HD) NOT UN NOT U	
42 Medium long shot 1 sec.	RIZZOLI & BLES (NV) HD	
43 Medium shot <1 sec.	HZZÜLTERES (TRIT) HD → HH ◆ 0-497-223	Dissolve to shot 44.
44 Medium shot <1 sec.	PHOTOTICES (IN PLANE)	
45 Close up <1 sec.	RIZZOLI S TÜLES (NO DE LE	Dissolve to shot 46.

46 Close up <1 sec.	RIZZOLI S ISLES (THT) HD	
47 Close up 2 sec.	► PH (+ 053/424	Camera moves to the right (tracking). Dissolve to shot 48.
48 Close up 1 sec.	► PH (+ 053/424	Dissolve to shot 49.
49 Medium close up <1 sec.	► ► → ♦ 055/426	Dissolve to shot 50
50 Medium shot <1 sec.	► ► ♦ 050/424 (\$\frac{1}{4}\)	Camera follows Jane to the right (tracking).
51 Medium close up <1 sec.	► PM (t 087/424	Dissolve to shot 52.

52 Medium close up <1 sec.	► PM (C 0507454)	
53 Medium close up <1 sec.	RIZZOLI & ISLES (N1) HD N12ZOLI & ISLES (N1) HD (2) 037/324	Dissolve to shot 54.
54 Medium close up <1 sec.	RIZZOLI & IBLES (717) HD	
Medium shot 1 sec.	(nu) HD	
56 Close up 1 sec.	► Not 4 101/424	Slow motion.
57 Close up <1 sec.	▶ ₩ ♦ 100/424 ♥ □ []	Camera moves downward (tracking). Dissolve to shot 58.

58 Close up <1 sec.	▶ pel (153/424	
59 Medium shot 1 sec.	RIZZOU & BLES (TNT) RIZZOU & SLES (TNT)	Camera moves to the left (tracking).
60 Medium close up <1 sec.	► HI 1 105/424	Dissolve to shot 61.
61 Medium close up <1 sec.	► H (10/42)	
62 Medium shot 2 sec.	RIZZOLA ISLES (HL)	Dissolve to shot 63.
63 Medium shot 1 sec.	RIZZOLI & ISLËS (TNT)	Dissolve to shot 64.

64 Medium shot 2 sec.	RIZZOLI 8 ISLAS (RIZZOLI 8 ISLAS (RIZZOL	Dissolve to shot 65.
65 Medium close up <1 sec.	RIZZOLI È ISLËS (THI) ► PH	Fade out.
66 <1 sec.	RIZZOLIA IBLES (TRIT) ► PH ◆ 133/424 © □ []	Source: Other.
67 Medium shot <1 sec.	RIZZOLI & ISLES (THT) PH 1 133/424	Dissolve to shot 68.
68 Medium shot <1 sec.	► MI (+ 349/48)	
69 Close up 1 sec.	RIZZON SISTERAL (TRIT) NO. SISSE/264 C. C	Camera moves to the right top, towards Jane's face (tracking). Dissolve to shot 70.

70 Medium close up 2 sec.	PRZOGLEGISES (TRT) PRZOGLEGISES (TRT)	Slow motion.
71 Medium close up <1 sec.	▶ PH (0 337/424 / ♥□ (;	Dissolve to shot 72.
72 Close up 1 sec.	► PM (C 107/423	Camera shakes.
73 Close up <1 sec.	PRZ (0)	Dissolve to shot 74.
74 Medium close up 1 sec.	F □ []	Camera shakes.
75 Medium close up 1 sec.	ADZZOU 6 TEST TO SEE	Fade out.

76 <1 sec.	► ► ► 1201/424	Source: Other.
77 Medium shot 3 sec.	Name (1) 121/424 (2) (2) (2)	Slow motion. Camera zoom in on Jane's and Maura's hands (tracking).
78 Medium shot 2 sec.	→ H 1 124/424	Slow motion. Camera shakes.
79 Long shot 8 sec.	M (130/424	Slow motion.
80 Medium long shot <1 sec.	► >H ◆ 134/424	Slow motion.
81 Medium shot <1 sec.	▶ № (• 134/424	Slow motion.

82 Long shot <1 sec.	► M (135/424	Slow motion. Fade out.
83 <1 sec.	▶ № 4 1367424	Source: Other.
84 Medium close up <1 sec.	RIZZOLI & ISLES	Dissolve to shot 85.
85 Medium close up <1 sec.	PH (+ 137/624) □ 137/624 □ 137/624	
86 Medium shot 1 sec.	PRIZZOLI BIBLIS (N)	Camera moves upwards towards Jane's and Maura's head (tracking).
87 Medium shot <1 sec.	REZONA KUŠŠ (NI)	

88 Medium close up 1 sec.	PH 1 141/424 St :: :	Camera follows Jane's movement (tracking). Fade out.
89 <1 sec.	▶ M ♦ 182/426	Source: Other.
90 Medium close up <1 sec.	PREZONI CINICES (THT) HD	Camera shakes. Dissolve to shot 91.
91 Medium close up <1 sec.	RIZZOLIA ALMANIA (NO) HID	Camera shakes. Fade out.
92 <1 sec.	► MH ← 1341/428	Source: Other.
93 Medium long shot 2 sec.	► M 1 140/424	Camera moves to the left, towards Jane, centering her in the right side of the screen (tracking).

94 Medium close up 1 sec.	► H	
95 Medium close up 1 sec.	► PH 1 1-148/424	
96 Medium close up <1 sec.	#Rizzollandistics (TNT) HH 4: 1497/424	Slow motion. Dissolve to shot 97.
97 Medium close up 1 sec.	#Rizzol indisles (TNT) M 1597/221 F 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	Slow motion. Fade out.
98 <1 sec.	► № (+ 131/424)	Source: Other.
99 Medium close up <1 sec.	RIZZOLI & ISLES (NI) HD	Camera shakes. Dissolve to shot 100.

100 Close up <1 sec.	Rizzou & 152/454 ▶ ₩ ﴿ 152/454	Camera shakes.
101 Medium close up 2 sec.	RIZZOLI & ISLES (TNT) HD	Dissolve to shot 102.
Medium close up 2 sec.	► IM (0 1557/424 (5° □ 13	Fade out.
103 <1 sec.	▶ ₩ (• 1527/424 ☆ □ 〔 2	Source: Other.
104 Medium close up 3 sec.	RIZZOLI & ISLES (TNT) HD HM 40 157/424 GF 🗆 ()	Dissolve to shot 105.
105 Medium close up <1 sec.	RIZZOLI A ISLUSS (TNT) HD	Fade out.

106 <1 sec.	▶ ₩ ♦ 282/424 ♦ □ €3	Source: Other.
107 Medium long shot 2 sec.	PICAGOS AND CONTRACTOR OF THE	Fade in. Dissolve to shot 108.
108 Medium shot 2 sec.	► M (+ 201/42)	Camera follows Maura (tracking). Dissolve to shot 109.
109 Medium shot 3 sec.	► PH, 40 200/424	Dissolve to shot 110.
Medium shot 1 sec.	No. 40 232/424	Fade out.
111 <1 sec.	► >	Source: Other.

Medium close up <1 sec.	RIZZOLI 8 INLESS (TRT) HD	Fade in. Dissolve to shot 113.
113 Medium close up <1 sec.	REZZOLI & ISLES (POLIDO	
Medium shot 1 sec.	RIZZOLI & SISLES (TRIT) HD	Dissolve to shot 115.
115 Medium shot <1 sec.	RIZZOLI & ISLES (THT) HD	
116 Medium shot <1 sec.	RIEZOLI & ISLES (THT)	Dissolve to shot 117.
117 Medium close up 1 sec.	RIZZOLI & ISLËS (NI) ▶ 161 (1 239/434	Fade out.

118 <1 sec.	► NH 40 222/428	Source: Other.
119 Medium close up <1 sec.	F № 4 227/524	Dissolve to shot 120.
120 Medium close up <1 sec.	N ← 220122	Dissolve to shot 121.
121 Medium close up <1 sec.	RIZZOLI & TRLES (NIT) HD	Camera follows Maura upwards (tracking). Dissolve to shot 122.
Medium close up <1 sec.	M + 22/HFS STON STOLEN	Dissolve to shot 123.
123 Medium close up <1 sec.	RIZZOLI & TÜLES (NOT) HD	Camera follows Maura upwards (tracking).

Medium shot 5 sec.	RIZZOLI S ISLES (TNT) HD	
125 Medium close up <1 sec.	RIZZOLI & STATUS (TNT) HD	
126 Medium close up <1 sec.	RIZZOLI & TISLES (THT) HD	
127 Medium shot 2 sec.	H4 (- 236/426	Fade out (to white).
128 <1 sec.	▶ № ♦ 227/425	Source: Other.
129 Medium shot <1 sec.	DM € 238/424	Fade in (from white). Slow motion. Dissolve to shot 130.

130 Medium shot <1 sec.	M127/OLI BELES (NY) NM (+ 2207/424 \$\frac{1}{2} = 11	Slow motion. Dissolve to shot 13	1.
131 Long shot <1 sec.	This zou as the same of the sa		
Medium long shot <1 sec.	RIZZOLI DE TIPO DE LA CONTRACTOR DE LA C	Dissolve to shot 13	3.
133 Medium long shot <1 sec.	RIZZOLI A ISLES (THT) HD	Dissolve to shot 13	4.
134 Long shot <1 sec.	N (* 242/424	Dissolve to shot 13	5.
135 Medium long shot <1 sec.	M = 4x 20/424	Dissolve to shot 13	6.

136 Long shot <1 sec.	M 42 244/22	Dissolve to shot 137.
137 Medium long shot <1 sec.	► PH 4 244/493	Dissolve to shot 138.
138 Long shot <1 sec.	245/424	
Medium shot 4 sec.		Fade out.
140 <1 sec.	► ₩ (* 251/424	Source: Other.
141 Medium shot 2 sec.	Produced by KEVINIG OREMIN M 4 2547434	Slow motion.

142 Close up 1 sec.	by Spirit Marian Science Co.	Slow motion. Fade out.
143 <1 sec.	► NH ≪ 250/434	Source: Other.
144 Medium close up <1 sec.	Bosro CRI Selizional description (1977)	Fade in. Dissolve to shot 145.
145 Medium long shot 5 sec.	#Rizzolandises (Tit)	Camera follows Jane leaving and then centers on Maura (pan).
146 Medium shot 1 sec.	P. M. 4: 20/22 G □ 13	Slow motion.
147 Medium shot <1 sec.	FIZZOLIA SLES (NY) HD	Dissolve to shot 148.

148 Medium close up <1 sec.	RIZZOLI & TOUR HD	
149 Medium shot <1 sec.	AIZZOLIA SSLES (HV) HD	Dissolve to shot 150.
150 Close up 1 sec.	RIZZOLI A SELES (TAT) HD	Camera follows Maura to the left (tracking).
151 Medium close up <1 sec.	RIZZOLI & ISLES (TNT) M 4* 359/424	Dissolve to shot 152.
152 Medium close up 1 sec.	PH 4* 210/224 FIZZOLE ISLES (THT)	
Medium shot 1 sec.	RIZZOLI & TOLES (THT) HD	

154 Medium shot 1 sec.	► PH (+ 313/424	
155 Medium close up 3 sec.	► H (* 318/424	Slow motion. Camera follows Jane and Maura (tracking).
156 Close up <1 sec.	► HI 4× 339/424	Slow motion. Camera follows Jane and Maura (tracking).
157 Medium long shot 2 sec.	RIZZOL RIBLES TO	Dissolve to shot 158.
158 Medium shot <1 sec.	PH (123/424	Fade out.
159 <1 sec.	► » (* 321/424 \$ □ []	Source: Other.

160 Medium shot 1 sec.	N (* 35 / 22)	Fade in. Dissolve to shot 10	61.
161 Medium shot 1 sec.	► HI 4- 326/424	Slow motion. Fade out.	
162 <1 sec.	► PH 4* 327/424	Source: Other.	
163 Medium close up <1 sec.	RIZZOLI & ISLES (TNT) HD	Dissolve to shot 10	64.
164 Medium shot <1 sec.	ZZOLI & ISLES (NY) HD PM (* 3237424) G □ ::	Slow motion.	
165 Medium close up <1 sec.	► H + 35/45	Dissolve to shot 10	66.

166 Medium close up <1 sec.	► PH (+ 330/424	Dissolve to shot 167.
167 Medium shot 1 sec.	► PH (* 332/42)	Dissolve to shot 168.
168 Medium long shot 1 sec.	Marie Constitution of the	Dissolve to shot 169.
169 Close up 1 sec.	PH 4× 335/424	Fade out.
170 <1 sec.	► NH (* 336/424	Source: Other.
171 Medium close up <1 sec.	RIZZOLI A ISLES (NT)	Dissolve to shot 172.

172 Medium close up <1 sec.	RIZZOU & ISLES (TRIT)	Dissolve to shot 173.
Medium shot 3 sec.	► PH (* 327/424	Slow motion. Camera follows Jane and Maura (tracking). Dissolve to shot 174.
174 Medium close up <1 sec.	tzzolandises (TNT)	Dissolve to shot 175.
175 Medium close up <1 sec.	Marcon Medicine (1917) → 194 (4- 3-40/-554) © □ [3]	Dissolve to shot 176.
176 Medium shot 2 sec.	#Rizzollandisies (THT)	
177 Medium shot 2 sec.	BIZOLI SISSES (TI) HD	Dissolve to shot 178.

178 Medium close up 2 sec.	RIZZOLI & ISLES (NIT) HD	
179 Medium close up <1 sec.	RIZZOLIS ISLES (NIT) HD	
180 Medium close up <1 sec.	RIZZOLI & RISLES (TRI) HD	
181 Medium close up <1 sec.	NA 359/424	Camera shakes. Dissolve to shot 182.
182 Medium close up <1 sec.	RIZZOLI & ISLES (TIT) HD	Camera shakes.
183 Medium shot 2 sec.	► PM (+ 382/434	Camera follows Jane and Maura (tracking).

184 Medium shot <1 sec.	RIZZOLI & ISLESS (TRE) MED. RIZZOLI & ISLESS (TRE) MED. \$\frac{1}{2} \text{ \$\frac{1}{2}} \	Dissolve to shot 185.
185 Medium shot <1 sec.	MI 4x 354/434	
186 Medium shot <1 sec.	RIZZOLI STSLESS HIP HD	Dissolve to shot 187.
187 Medium shot 2 sec.	RIZZOLI S ISLES THT HD	Camera moves to the left and zooms in on Jane's hand (tracking).
188 Medium close up 2 sec.	RIZZOLI & ISLES (TNT) MI (* 358/421	
189 Medium shot <1 sec.	RIZZOLI A SELES (TNT) HD	Dissolve to shot 190.

190 Medium close up 2 sec.	RIZZOLI 4 ISLES (TNT) HD	Dissolve to shot 191.
191 Medium shot <1 sec.	RIZZÓLI & ISLES (TNT) HD FIN 44 455/121	Dissolve to shot 192.
192 Medium close up <1 sec.	RIZZOLI & ISLËS (1917) ▶ ▶ ₩ 4× 408/424	Dissolve to shot 193.
193 Medium close up <1 sec.	PIZZOLI & ISLËS (THT) PIZZOLI & ISLËS (THT)	
194 Medium close up <1 sec.	RIZZOLI 8 ISLE (HT) HD	
195 Close up <1 sec.	► NH 44 407/494	

196 Medium close up <1 sec.	PH	Maura: "I love you." Promotional announcement placed over the lower part of the frame: "Are Jane and Maura the perfect team?" Continues over shot 197.	Dissolve to shot 197.
197 Medium close up <1 sec.	HI 4: 410/434 ARE JANE AND MAURA THE PERFECT TEAMS [TR]		Camera zooms in. Dissolve to shot 198.
198 Medium close up <1 sec.	► HI 4 (411/43)		Dissolve to shot 199.
199 Medium close up 1 sec.	► HI 4- 492/44 & C = E3		Fade out.
200 10 sec.	► ₩ 4× 413/424	Written text: "For Mikke. I hope this makes you smile, sweetie. I love you."	Source: Other.

Figure 2.1 Fan video: The Eye Sex. Song text: A little less conversation, by Elvis Presley.

A little less conversation a little more action please,
All this aggravation ain't satisfactioning me,
A little more bite a little less bark,
A little less fight and a little more spark,
Close your mouth and open up your heart and baby satisfy me,

Satisfy me baby.

Baby close your eyes and listen to the music, Dig to the summer breeze, It's a groovy night and I can show you how to use it, Come along with me and put your mind at ease hey.

A little less conversation a little more action please, All this aggravation ain't satisfactioning me, A little more bite a little less bark, A little less fight and a little more spark, Shut your mouth and open up your heart and baby satisfy me, Satisfy me baby.

Come on baby I'm tired of talking.
Grab your coat and let's start walking,
Come on come on,
Come on come on,
Come on come on,
Don't procrastinate,
Don't articulate,
Girl it's getting late,
You just sit and wait around.

Yeah, a little less conversation a little more action please, All this aggravation ain't satisfactioning me, A little more bite a little less bark, A little less fight and a little more spark, Shut your mouth and open up your heart and baby satisfy me, Satisfy me baby.

Figure 2.2 Fan video: Friends. Song text: I'll be there for you, by The Rembrandts.

So no one told you life was gonna be this way
Your job's a joke
You're broke
Your lovelife's D.O.A.
It's like you're always stuck in second gear
When it hasn't been your day, your week, your month, or even your year but

I'll be there for you (When the rain starts to poor) I'll be there for you (Like I've been there before) I'll be there for you ('Cause you're there for me too)

You're still in bed at ten, and work began at eight You've burned your breakfast So far, things are going great Your mother warned you there'd be days like these But she didn't tell you when the world has brought you down to your knees that

I'll be there for you (When the rain starts to poor) I'll be there for you (Like I've been there before) I'll be there for you ('Cause you're there for me too)

No one could ever know me
No one could ever see me
Seems you're the only one who knows, what it's like to be me
Someone to face the day with
Make it through all the rest with
Someone I'll always laugh with
Even at my worst I'm best with you, yeah

It's like you're always stuck in second gear When it hasn't been your day, your week, your month, or even your year

I'll be there for you (When the rain starts to poor) I'll be there for you (Like I've been there before) I'll be there for you ('Cause you're there for me too)

I'll be there for you I'll be there for you I'll be there for you 'Cause you're there for me too

Figure 2.3 Fan video: Arms. Song text: Arms, by Christina Perri.

I never thought that you would be the one to hold my heart But you came around and you knocked me off the ground from the start

You put your arms around me And I believe that it's easier for you to let me go You put your arms around me and I'm home

How many times will you let me change my mind and turn around? I can't decide if I'll let you save my life or if I'll drown

I hope that you see right through my walls
I hope that you catch me 'cause I'm already falling
I'll never let our love get so close
You put your arms around me and I'm home

The world is coming down on me and I can't find a reason to be loved I never wanna leave you but I can't make you bleed if I'm alone

You put your arms around me And I believe that it's easier for you to let me go...

I hope that you see right through my walls
I hope that you catch me, 'cause I'm already falling
I'll never let our love get so close
You put your arms around me and I'm home

I try my best to never let you in to see the truth And I've never opened up I've never truly loved till you put your arms around me And I believe that it's easier for you to let me go

I hope that you see right through my walls
I hope that you catch me, 'cause I'm already falling
I'll never let our love get so close
You put your arms around me and I'm home

You put your arms around me and I'm home

Figure 3. Camera Distance

Camera distance	The Eye Sex	Friends	Arms
Extreme long shot	-	-	-
Long shot	-	10	7
Medium long shot	8	15	18
Medium shot	15	37	60
Medium close up	33	62	70
Close up	-	1	19
Extreme close up	-	-	-
Total	56	125	176

Figure 4. Shot Duration

Shot duration	The Eye Sex	Friends	Arms
<1 sec.	9	63	128
1-2 sec.	41	53	57
3-5 sec.	14	9	13
6	2	1	2
Total	66	126	200

Figure 5. Speed of Motion, Editing Graphics and Camera Movement

	The Eye Sex	Friends	Arms
Speed of motion	-	-	25 (slow motion)
Editing graphics	5 (fade in/fade out)	75 (fade in/fade out/	116 (fade in/fade out/
		dissolve)	dissolve)
Camera movement	36 (tracking/zoom)	67 (tracking/zoom/	40 (tracking/zoom/
		pan/tilt)	pan)

Figure 6. Source Visual Material

	The Eye Sex	Friends	Arms
Source TV series	56	89	176
Source Other (black/ white/text screen)	10	1	24
Source Bloopers	-	29	-
Source TV Guide Magazine	-	7	-
Total	66	126	200